ABSTRACT

Title of Document:Effects of Diet and Weight Gain on
Subcutaneous Body Fat Accretion Patterns and
Adipocytokine Production in Thoroughbred
Geldings
Jessica K. Suagee, M.S., 2007Directed By:Amy O. Burk, Ph.D., Department of Animal and
Avian Sciences

Fifteen Thoroughbred geldings on an eight month weight gain study were used to evaluate 1) the effects of weight gain and diet on body area (neck, withers, shoulders, ribs, loin, tailhead) condition scores, and 2) the effects of weight gain, diet, and exercise on serum concentrations of tumor necrosis factor- α . The body condition scoring system developed in Quarter horse was slightly modified for use Thoroughbred geldings and involved developing prediction equations that utilized a smaller subset of the body areas. Horses at a BCS of 4 were found to be at a higher risk of inflammation that horses at a BCS of 7. The degree of inflammation was similar between horses fed either a high starch and sugar diet or high fiber and fat diet, indicated by similar TNF concentrations. Restricting daily exercise for two weeks was associated with increased inflammation.

EFFECTS OF DIET AND WEIGHT GAIN ON SUBCUTANEOUS BODY FAT ACCRETION PATTERNS AND ADIPOCYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THOROUGHBRED GELDINGS

By

Jessica Kanekakenre Suagee

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science 2007

Advisory Committee: Dr. Amy O. Burk, Chair Dr. Thomas G. Hartsock Dr. Tom W. Castonguay Dr. Larry W. Douglass © Copyright by Jessica Kanekakenre Suagee 2007

Acknowledgements

There are many people to whom I owe a great deal of thanks for being supportive of me during my time as a student at the University of Maryland. Special thanks go to the generous professors who served on my committee, devoting not only their time but also their expertise. First, I would like to thank Dr. Amy Burk, my committee chair, for all of the effort and energy that she has invested in my education over the past two years. Not only did she inspire me to pursue a degree in equine nutrition but she also encouraged and provided plenty of opportunities to expand my skills and knowledge base.

I would also like to thank Dr. Thomas Hartsock for his insight and wisdom and for his exceptional ability to always ask the kind of questions that stimulate independent thinking. I owe much gratitude to Dr. Tom Castonguay for all of the guidance he has provided over the last six years. He is a gifted professor and I have been honored to have him serve as an advisor for both my four years of undergraduate and two years of graduate school. Lastly, a great deal of thanks goes to Dr. Larry Douglass for his patience in answering all of my seemingly endless statistics questions, and for always validating the importance of my questions. These professors each added an important component to my education, and I am deeply appreciative of all the time they spent with me.

This research would also have not been possible without all the students and staff who assisted along the way. Many thanks go to the staff of the Central

ii

Maryland Research and Education Center, including Janah Schreiber, the manager, and all of the undergraduates who worked there during the 11 months of these studies. I also owe thanks to Tim Shellem, our lab tech, for not only assisting in horse care duties, but also for helping locate needed supplies or giving pep talks. Lastly I need to thank both Dr. Thomas Jacobs and Ms. Roseangela Navarro from the Maryland Department of Agriculture, who kindly assisted with teaching me the finer points of ELISA technology.

I would also like to thank my family for their support of my educational goals, and especially my parents for their honesty and generosity. Dad, you are the strongest person I know, and you inspire me to greatness every day. Thank you for allowing me to be that little girl who loved horses, for taking me to the county fairpony rides, the riding lessons, and the horse shows. I know those 4 am drives to the barn probably weren't all that much fun, but I really appreciated it. My family also includes my horses, and I would like to thank them for teaching me patience, confidence, and honesty. My horses have always provided me a place to go when I needed a mental break and they unfailing restore my positive attitude each time.

A great deal of thanks also goes to the friends that were so patient and uncomplaining about my busy schedule. These include Laura Kmitch, Sarah Shaffer, Janice Chang, Danielle Wagner, Aleena Collins, Shelley Armour, and Pat Coughlin. I would also like to thank my fellow grad students, Rachael Quinn and Kelcey Swyers, for sticking by me, and being two of my best friends. These ladies are two of the strongest women I know, and are inspirational future scientists. I need to thank Rachael especially for her generosity, and for always being available for a pep talk or

iii

a statistics conversation. Kelcey was not only a friend but also a mentor, answering every question I ever had about life. Her unwavering honesty and strength are two qualities I admire. I wish both of them the best of luck with their future careers. Another mentor of whom I am deeply grateful is Dr. Larry Garthoff of the Food and Drug Administration, for his constant support and faith in me. Larry provided me with numerous opportunities as an undergraduate to work in a lab and get exposure to research. Working in his lab, I learned to enjoy research, and it was he that encouraged me to pursue a career in research.

I would also like to thank Chet, my best friend and confidante, for never losing faith in me and always inspiring me to work to the best of my abilities. Chet was never short on words of encouragement and always let me bounce ideas off of him, no matter how crazy or far-fetched, he always supported me. Through the little pick me up gifts, chocolates, funny cards, or just marathon phone calls, he made my life happier and more enjoyable every day. Best wishes go to him as he pursues a Ph.D. in business.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Review of Literature	3
Methods for Assessing Body Composition in the Horse	4
The Relationship between Obesity and Metabolic Disorders	16
Summary	37
Chapter 3: Manuscript 1	39
Abstract	39
Introduction	40
Materials and Methods	41
Results	46
Discussion	47
Implications	53
Literature Cited	53
Tables	57
Figures	94
Chapter 4: Manuscript II	97
Abstract	97
Introduction	98
Materials and Methods	99
Results	106
Discussion	106
Implications	111
Literature Cited	112
Tables	120
Figures	123
Chapter 5: General Summary	126
Chapter 6: Vita	128
References	129

List of Tables

Table 1. Body condition scores as described by Leighton-Hardman (1980)6
Table 2. Body condition system for horses as described by Carroll and Huntington
(1988)
Table 3. Body condition scores as described by Henneke (1983)

Chapter 2

Table 1. Nutrient compositions of feeds that were supplied to Thoroughbred geldings
fed for weight gain over an eight month period on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either
a concentrate that was high in starch and sugar (HS) or high in fat and fiber
(HF)
Table 2. Digestible energy (DE) intakes of horses fed to gain weight over eight
months on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a concentrate high in starch and sugar
(HS) or high in fat and fiber (HF)
Table 3. Precision of body condition scores (BCS) assigned to six body areas by two
judges over the 8 mo study
Table 4. Weighted body condition score prediction equations, 95% prediction
intervals, and prediction r ² for all possible combinations of body areas90
Table 5. Characteristics of individual body condition scores

Chapter 3

Table 1. Nutrient composition of a mixed grass/alfalfa hay (Hay) and either a
concentrate high in starch and sugar (HS) or high in fiber and fat (HF) fed to
horses
Table 2. Digestible energy (DE) intakes of horses fed for weight gain on a mixed
grass/alfalfa hay and either a high in starch and sugar (HS) concentrate or a high in fat
and fiber (HF) concentrate
Table 3. Recovery of TNF from serum of horses from varied body condition scores
(BCS) after spiking with recombinant equine TNF and dilutional parallelism of
ELISA

List of Figures

Chapter 1

Figure 1. Body condition scores as defined by Rudman and Keiper	
(1991)	9
Figure 2. Body areas as described by Henneke et al. (1983)	12

Chapter 2

Figure 1. Body condition scores (BCS) and body weight (BW) of horses fed for	
weight gain over eight months on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a concentrate	
high in starch and sugar (HS) or high in fat and fiber (HF)9	4
Figure 2. Differences in body area body condition score (BCS) by diet9	5

Figure 2. Differences in body area body condition score (BCS) at each month.....96

Chapter 3

Figure 1. Mean body weight (BW) of horses fed mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a
concentrate high in fiber and fat or starch and sugar
Figure 2. Effects of body condition score (BCS) on serum tumor necrosis factor- α
(TNF) concentrations of horses fed for weight gain on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and
either a high in starch and sugar or a high in fat and fiber diet124
Figure 3. Effects of exercise restriction on serum tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF)
concentrations of horses fed for weight gain on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a
high in starch and sugar or a high in fat and fiber diet

Chapter 1: Introduction

Body condition scoring (BCS) is a subjective method of estimating subcutaneous fat cover in many livestock species and is one of the most widely used indices of energy balance in equine feeding management. The most commonly used equine BCS method was developed by Henneke et al. (1983) in pre-parturient Quarter horse mares. Fat cover of six discrete body areas; neck, withers, shoulders, ribs, loin, and tailhead was scored on a scale of 1 (thin) to 9 (fat) by physical palpation and visual assessment and then averaged for a mean BCS. The Henneke system has since been applied to all breeds, ages, and genders of horses, without determining if the system accurately describes body area fat accretion in these different classes of horses, if all classes of horses accrue subcutaneous fat in the same locations or if different types of diets have effects on body area fat accumulation.

Body condition scoring is an inexpensive and easily applied method for determining temporal changes in nutritional status. However, a valid BCS system is required to accurately assess these changes. Body condition scoring is an important management tool that can be used to prevent obesity. To date, obesity in horses has been linked with the development of life threatening metabolic conditions such as laminitis (Jeffcott et al., 1986; Fontaine et al., 2001) and hyperlipemia (Jeffcott et al., 1985; Hughes, 2004). Obesity in horses is often the result of a lack of knowledge on the owners' part about the serious risks associated with unhealthy levels of fat in their animals. Weight gain is positively correlated with increasing systemic concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF) in humans

(Hotamisligil et al., 1995) and horses (Vick et al., 2007), which are produced by the accumulating adipose tissue. In humans, an increase in TNF results in a low grade inflammation (Sethi et al., 1999) that precludes development of the metabolic diseases of obesity (Permana et al., 2006; Skurk et al., 2004). Since the obese equine also appears to be at risk for metabolic diseases (Johnson et al., 2002; Kronfeld et al., 2006; Treiber et al., 2006), a similar mechanism of action is probable (Vick et al., 2007).

Based on the importance of understanding both how horses accrue body fat and the link between excessive body fat and disease, the objectives of these studies were to:

- Determine the accuracy and precision of the Henneke BCS system for Thoroughbred geldings
- Assess the effect of dietary energy source on the distribution of subcutaneous body area fat accretion
- Determine if a smaller subset of body areas could be used to accurately predict the overall mean BCS for the Henneke BCS system in Thoroughbred geldings
- 4) Determine if BCS gain is associated with serum concentrations of TNF
- 5) Assess the effects of dietary energy source on serum TNF concentrations
- Determine whether cessation of daily exercise in horses fed to gain weight would influence their inflammatory state.

Chapter 2: Review of Literature

The ability to quantify stored body fat is important for nutritional, reproductive, and health management of livestock animals. The most common method reported in the literature for assessing body fat in horses is body condition scoring, a qualitative assessment of subcutaneous fat cover. Other techniques that are used, but are less common, include ultrasonography and body mass index. Managing horses properly involves the ability to maintain them at a healthy body condition and weight (Johnson, 2002; Treiber et al., 2006), and this in turn requires tools that are easily applied to large animals under field conditions.

The most common cause of unhealthy levels of fatness in horses is the feeding of too much grain in comparison to the level of physical activity a horse exerts (Johnson, 2002). This is often compounded with a lack of knowledge on the manager's part about how to assess body fat. Overfeeding can come in the form of concentrates, forages or lush pasture and because horses are often maintained in large group-feeding situations, horses that are prone to weight gain may need special attention during feeding to avoid obesity (Johnson, 2002). Maintaining horses at a healthy condition is important because there are several metabolic disorders associated with obesity in horses (Jeffcott et al., 1986; Hughes, 2004; Kronfeld et al., 2006; Treiber et al., 2006). Therefore, using a system such as body condition scoring to manage feed and exercise needs may aid in the prevention of metabolic disorders and the costly veterinary care required to treat these disorders.

METHODS FOR ASSESSING BODY COMPOSITION IN THE HORSE Body Condition Scoring

Body condition scoring (BCS) systems estimate subcutaneous fat cover by dividing the continuous scale of fat deposition into categories based on specific characteristics (Burkholder, 2000; Evans, 1978). This is done through both visual assessments and physical palpations. Most systems use low scores to indicate an animal with minimal fat cover and easily visible bony structures, mid range scores to indicate an animal with bony structures that can be easily felt but not seen, and high range scores to indicate an animal whose bony structures are difficult to feel (Burkholder, 2000). Generally, mid range scores are the most desired, with athletes slightly lower and breeding animals slightly higher (Kronfeld, 1997).

Benefits and Limitations. Body condition scoring is the most often used method for determining fat cover in research publications, most likely due to ease of use, little expense, and no required equipment. Estimating an animal's fat cover is necessary for monitoring health and nutrition status as well as enabling the implementation of suitable feed and exercise management strategies that will bring about the optimal condition of that particular animal (Kronfeld, 1997). Within the equine species, healthy body weights range from 100 kg in Miniature Horses to 1000 kg in draft horse breeds, therefore, body weight (BW) alone is not sufficient for determining adequate nutritional status and health. In comparison, BCS are independent of frame size, allowing for a better assessment of health than BW alone (Burkholder, 2000). Body condition scoring is a good method of estimating stored body fat because it uses the whole body, and may therefore be more accurate than two-measurement

indicators such as BMI. However the benefit of the BMI measurement is that it is an indicator of visceral fat, whereas BCS only takes into account subcutaneous fat.

Body condition scoring systems are highly subjective when not accompanied by an unambiguous protocol, including both specific characteristics of each score and instructions for use (Evans, 1978). Therefore, in order to be valid, a BCS system should demonstrate three qualifications: repeatability, reproducibility, and predictability (Burkholder, 2000). Repeatability is a test of the system's precision; such that one assessor repeatedly assigns the same score to a given animal that is maintaining condition. Reproducibility is a test of between-assessor variability, such that two or more assessors assign the same score to one animal, while predictability is the ability of a BCS system to accurately reflect the fat cover of an animal. The main limitation of a BCS system is its subjective nature, thus valid results require user knowledge and familiarity of the judge with each system. Subjectivity is reduced and reliability of scores increased when the assignment of scores is conducted according to specific protocols (Burkholder, 2000).

Leighton-Hardman. The first published BCS system for horses was that of Leighton-Hardman (1980), which defines condition as the amount of subcutaneous fatty tissue present in a given animal (Table 1). This system identifies three areas of fat accumulation: the pelvic area as viewed by standing directly behind the horse, backbone and ribs, and neck area immediately cranial to the withers. The scale is from 0 (thin) to 5 (fat) with half point demarcations, resulting in an 11 point scale, although only whole scores are defined. Basic user instructions include visuals and brief written descriptions of a horse at each whole point condition score. The

assessment is conducted on the pelvic region first, and the score given can be adjusted by a half score if the score given to the back/ribs and neck area differs from the pelvic score by one point or more. Therefore the pelvic region score receives the greatest weight when calculating the final score.

The drawbacks of this system include that it utilizes only 6 whole scores, which may not be specific enough for research purposes. Additionally, there is no validation or explanation for using an adjusted pelvis score, which gives the pelvic score more weight than the other body areas being scored.

	Body Areas		
Score	Pelvis	Back and Ribs	Neck
0: Very Poor	Deep cavity under tail and either side of croup. Skin drawn tightly over pelvis with no tissue detectable beneath.	Individual processes sharp to touch and very clearly defined. Skin drawn tightly over clearly defined ribs.	Ewe neck, very narrow and slack at base.
1: Poor	Croup and pelvis well defined. No fatty tissue present but skin is supple. Deep depression under tail.	Individual processes of the backbone sharp to touch and clearly defined. Ribs clearly visible.	Ewe neck, narrow and slack at base.
2: Moderate	Croup well defined but some fatty tissue felt under the skin. Pelvis felt easy. Slight cavity under the tail.	Backbone is covered. Individual processes not apparent but can easily be felt with pressure. Ribs just visible.	Narrow but firm.
3: Good	Fatty tissue covering whole area giving a rounded appearance without any 'gutter'. Skin appears smooth but pelvis easily felt	Vertebrae well covered but without a 'gutter'. Backbone easily felt with pressure. Ribs just covered	Firm, but with no crest except for stallions.
4: Fat	Pelvis buried in soft fatty tissue. 'Gutter' to root of tail. Pelvis felt only with firm pressure.	Gutter' along length of backbone. Ribs well covered by fatty tissue. Bone structure felt only with firm pressure.	Wide and firm, with folds of fatty tissue present. Slight crest even in mares.
5: Grossly Fat	Pelvis buried in fatty tissue. Deep 'gutter' to root of tail. Skin distended. No part of pelvis felt even with firm pressure	Deep 'gutter' along backbone. Ribs buried in fatty tissue. Bone structure cannot be felt. Back more like a table.	Very wide and firm, with folds of fatty tissue present. Marked crest even in mares.

Table 1. Body	y condition scores	as described by	^v Leighton-Hardman	(1980)
-		1	0	

Carroll and Huntington. Carroll and Huntington (1988) adapted the Leighton-Hardman (1980) system by adding detailed descriptions of each score (Table 2). In addition, they suggest a more concrete overall condition score calculation, where pelvic score is adjusted by 0.5 if it differs by 1 or more points from the back or neck scores. The primary goal of their work was to develop nomograms for BW prediction from BCS and height, and so the 0-5 scale was chosen for its simplicity when compared to a 1-9 scale (Henneke et al., 1983). They used the same score descriptions described by Leighton-Hardman.

An evaluation of the 0-5 scale was carried out, which included condition scoring and BW measurement of 30 horses by one of the authors and several other horsemen, unfamiliar to condition scoring. The number of other horsemen used to score the horses was not reported. Condition score results between the one author and the other horsemen were the same in 65% of the horses and the maximum difference was 0.5 scores. The authors do not report statistical agreement of scores, or the correlation coefficient in their paper, which is a drawback to their study. There is also no defined requirement in the literature for either agreement between judge scores or maximum allowable difference; therefore although the authors claim that their system had good correlation, there is no way of determining if it is indeed biologically acceptable. A second evaluation included condition scoring, body weight (BW), and height measurements from 20 non-pregnant Thoroughbred (TB) mares. Body weight was calculated from the nomograms and compared to the measured BW of horses in the same condition and height categories from the sample of 30 horses previously measured. There were no significant differences present

between calculated and measured BW, while score had a correlation coefficient of

0.704 with BW.

Score	Neck	Back and Ribs	Pelvis
0: Very Poor	Marked 'ewe' neck. Narrow and slack at base.	Skin tight over ribs. Spinous processes sharp and easily seen.	Angular pelvis- skin tight. Deep cavity under tail and either side of croup.
1: Poor	'Ewe' neck. Narrow and slack at base.	Ribs easily visible. Skin sunken either side of backbone. Spinous processes well defined.	Rump sunken, but skin supple. Pelvis and croup well defined. Deep depression under tail.
2: Moderate	Narrow but firm.	Ribs just visible. Backbone well covered. Spinous processes felt.	Rump is flat on either side of backbone. Croup is well defined, some fat. Slight cavity under tail.
3: Good	No crest (except in stallions).	Ribs just covered- easily felt. No 'gutter' along back. Spinous processes covered, but can be felt.	Pelvis covered by fat and rounded. Pelvis easily felt.
4: Fat	Slight crest. Wide and firm.	Ribs well covered- need firm pressure to feel. 'Gutter' along backbone.	Gutter' to root of tail. Pelvis covered by soft fat- felt only with firm pressure.
5: Very Fat	Marked crest. Very wide and firm. Folds of fat.	Ribs buried- cannot feel. Deep 'gutter'. Back broad and flat.	Deep 'gutter' to root of tail. Skin distended. Pelvis buried- cannot be felt.

Table 2. Body condition system for horses as described by Carroll and Huntington (1988)

Rudman and Keiper. Rudman and Keiper (1991) further modified the 0-5 scale through the development of a visual system to monitor the body condition of feral ponies on Assateague Island, MD (Figure 1). A visual BCS system is much more applicable to feral horse populations since it is usually not possible to physically palpate them. It may also be applicable to large ranching or farming operations that keep more animals than is possible to physically palpate. The authors utilized the same three body areas: the pelvic area, back/ ribs, and neck. They developed a pictograph describing the fat accretion characteristics of each score, which are based

on the prominence or rounding of the bone structures- ribs, vertebrae, point of hip, and whether the neck is "ewe" or "cresty". A major flaw of the system includes the fact that differences in conformation, muscle tone, and condition all change the appearance of an animal and the rounding and appearance of bone structures. Without physical palpation it may be hard to tell whether a particular animal's shape is influenced by conformation, muscle tone, or condition.



Figure 1. Body condition scores as defined by Rudman and Keiper (1991)

Henneke. The most common BCS system used today in research and management was developed in pre-parturient Quarter Horse mares (Henneke et al., 1983) as a way to accurately compare stored body fat by assigning a subjective score of fat accretion at six different body areas (Table 3). Sites of subcutaneous fat storage (Figure 2) specific to horses were determined by single time point observations of several mature horses, of mixed body condition and gender. A preliminary system was developed by Henneke (1981) and tested on 20 horses of Quarter Horse breeding by faculty, staff, and graduate students of the Texas A&M Animal Science Department. After refinement, the system was distributed to four Texas horse producers for

evaluation. Henneke identified six specific body areas of subcutaneous fat deposition as the neck, withers, behind the shoulders, ribs, lumbar spinous processes, and the tailhead. This condition scoring system defines a range of 1 (thin) to 9 (obese), with measurements in 0.5 units.

Body condition scores were compared by Henneke et al. (1983) to percent body fat by ultrasonic scans of rump fat thickness based on the methods of Westervelt et al. (1976). Correlations were run between BCS, BW, height, heart-girth, BW/height, heart-girth/height, and percent body fat. Body condition score was highly correlated to percent body fat, while there were no significant correlations between BW, height, or heart-girth measurements and percent body fat. Body weight/height and heart-girth/height were also significantly correlated to percent body fat. These results indicate that when used alone, single measurements of body size do not provide adequate estimates of body fat; however, ratios of these measurements can be used for this purpose.

Different breeds of horses were bred for different purposes- racing, pulling, pleasure riding, etc. These purposes may have had effects on breed specific inherent levels of muscling and bone structure, and these differences may affect the assignment of a BCS. The Henneke BCS system was primarily developed for use in reproductively active Quarter Horse mares, whose conformation may not only be affected by breed specific muscling but also by the weight of the fetus (Henneke et al., 1983). Because conformational differences between breeds may have significant impacts on scores, Henneke (1981) suggests that instead of averaging body area scores to calculate the final score, assessors should weight body areas differently

depending on these conformational differences. However, no weighting factors were suggested. Throughout the rest of this paper, BCS will refer to that determined by using the Henneke method, unless otherwise specified.

The benefits of using the Henneke BCS system include that it offers more categories for classifying animals, as well as identifying more body areas that accrue body fat than the other BCS systems. The Henneke system is the most often used BCS system in equine research because it offers the most flexibility when assigning scores, and it also has more comprehensive descriptions than the other BCS systems.

	Description
Score	
1: Poor	Animal extremely emaciated. Spinous processes, ribs, tailhead, tuber coxae and ischii projecting prominently. Bone structure of withers, shoulders, and neck easily noticeable. No fatty tissue can be felt.
2: Very Thin	Animal emaciated. Slight fat covering over base of spinous processes, transverse processes of lumbar vertebrae feel rounded. Spinous processes, ribs, tailhead, tuber coxae, and ischii prominent. Withers, shoulders, neck structures faintly discernible.
3: Thin	Fat buildup about halfway on spinous processes, transverse processes cannot be felt. Slight fat cover over ribs. Spinous processes and ribs easily felt. Tailhead prominent but individual vertebrae cannot be visually identified. Tuber coxae appear rounded, but easily discernible. Tuber ischii not distinguishable. Withers, shoulders, and neck accentuated.
4: Moderately Thin	Negative crease along back. Faint outline of ribs discernible. Tailhead prominence depends on conformation, fat can be felt around it. Tuber coxae not discernible. Withers, shoulders, and neck not obviously thin.
5: Moderate	Back level. Ribs cannot be visually distinguished but can be easily felt. Fat around tailhead beginning to feel spongy. Withers appear rounded over the spinous processes. Shoulders and neck blend smoothly into body.

Table 3. Body condition scores as described by Henneke (1983)

Score	Description
6: Moderately Fleshy	May have slight positive crease down back. Fat over ribs feel spongy. Fat around tailhead feels soft. Fat beginning to be deposited along the side of the withers, behind the shoulders and along the sides of the neck.
7: Fleshy	May have a crease down the back. Individual ribs can be felt, but noticeable filling between the ribs with fat. Fat around tailhead is soft. Fat deposited along withers, behind shoulders, and along neck.
8: Fat	Crease down back. Difficult to feel ribs. Fat around tailhead very soft. Area behind shoulder filled with fat. Noticeable thickening of neck. Fat deposited along inner thighs.
9: Extremely fat	Obvious crease down back. Patchy fat appearing over ribs. Bulging fat around tailhead, along withers, behind shoulders and along neck. Fat along inner things may rub together. Flank filled with fat.

Table 3 continued. Body condition scores as described by Henneke (1983)



Figure 2. Body areas described by Henneke et al. (1983).

Body Mass Index

Body mass index (BMI) is rarely used as a measure of body fat in equine research; however, it is frequently used in human nutrition consultations. Donaldson et al. (2004) first used BMI (BW [kg]/ height at withers [m²]) as an index of health in

horses, to correlate body fat to α - melanocyte stimulating hormone, an appetite control and energy balance hormone. Body mass index is an easily obtained and objective measure of body fat that is possibly more reliable than BCS, due to the subjective nature of body condition scoring (Donaldson et al., 2004). Body mass index was found to be a reasonable measure of body fat ($r^2 = 0.60$, p < 0.001). Healthy BMIs in horses ranged from 175 to 250, but because BW was calculated from a formula (Henneke et al., 1983) and not actual BW, BMI calculations based on actual BW might be slightly different. A drawback of using BMI is that BW may be influenced by more than just body fat, and therefore large ranges of BMI may be healthy.

Ultrasound Measurements

Ultrasonic measurements of fat cover are frequently used in equine nutrition and physiology research. The original work was done by Westervelt et al. (1976) on 8 horses and 11 ponies evaluated for fat thickness at the shoulder (directly posterior to scapula), rib (5 cm lateral from the spinous processes between the 12^{th} and 13^{th} ribs), and rump (5 cm lateral from the midline at the center of the pelvic bone) prior to slaughter. Carcass analysis was performed to determine total body fat by ether extract on homogenized carcass samples. Total body fat for horses was accurately predicted by rump fat measurements ($r^2 = 0.93$, p < 0.01), by the equation Y = 8.64 + 4.70X; where X = cm of rump fat and Y = percent fat. The equation for ponies was determined to be Y = 3.83 + 5.58X. Body condition scores correlated well to percent body fat ($r^2 = 0.65$).

A similar study by Kane et al. (1989) looked at site differences along the rump. Five sites were located 10 cm off the midline, at 5 cm intervals starting 6 cm from the tailhead. Site 1 was closest to the tailhead while site 5 was almost at the top of the croup. Ultrasound measurements were made to determine fat thickness at these 5 sites, and then horses were slaughtered and actual fat thickness determined. Sites 1-4 showed good correlation between ultrasound-derived fat thickness and actual body fat percentage, with sites 2 and 3 showing the strongest correlations ($r^2 = 0.98$ and 0.97, respectively). Derived equations varied greatly between sites, however, equations predicted from actual fat (Y = 5.01 + 5.7X) versus ultrasound measurements (Y = 2.89 + 5.47X) were most similar at site 2.

Gentry et al. (2004) found correlation coefficients of 0.87, 0.84, 0.82 and 0.86 between BCS and back fat thickness at the tailhead, rump, 13th rib, and withers respectively. In this study, light-breed mares at a starting BCS of 7 were fed for either BW gain to a BCS of 8.5, or BW loss to a BCS of 3.5, over a 2 mo period, and maintained there for 7 mos. Over the study period, there was little change in back fat thickness over the rump area as compared to the other three body areas, indicating that rump (correlates to site 5) might not be an accurate indicator of BCS in the horse. The tailhead area was the best indicator of BCS, as the tailhead averaged the most changes in fat cover, followed by fat cover of both the 13th rib and the withers.

Relationship between BCS, BW, and Body Fat

Body condition has been correlated to percent body fat in several studies, as well as BW gain required to achieve an increase of one BCS. Mature horses consuming an average 2.8% of their BW (24 Mcal of DE above daily maintenance)

achieved an average daily gain of 1 kg (Heusner, 1993). Horses increased their BCS from a 4 to a 6, with an increase of one BCS correlating to an increase of 16-20 kg BW. These horses averaged a gain of at least one BCS over a three week period. Graham-Thiers et al. (1999) demonstrated that a daily intake of 7 Mcal above DE resulted in an average daily gain of 0.3 kg, thus suggesting a requirement of 23 Mcal DE above maintenance for a one kg increase in BW. Taken together, these data support a requirement of at least 23 Mcal above daily DE for each one kg increase in BW, and within the BCS range of 4 to 6 an increase in one BCS requires a BW gain of 20 kg. This BW gain of 20 kg can be achieved with an average daily gain of one kg, and would require 20 days of a horse being fed 23 Mcal above daily DE.

There are broad ranges of percent body fat for each BCS that were identified across several breeds. Hines et al. (1987) estimated Quarter Horse mares at an average BCS of 3.4, to have 11-13% body fat. Estimations of percent body fat in BCS 4-5 animals come from Standardbreds (Kearns et al., 2002), Arabians (Lawrence et al., 1992), TB broodmares (Vick et al., 2006) and various breeds of mares (Powell et al., 2002), which was found to range between 7-11%. Body fat percentages for horses in moderate to moderately fleshy condition (BCS 5-7) have been identified in Quarter Horse broodmares (Henneke, 1981; Kubiak et al., 1991) and Standardbred mares (Kearns et al., 2001) and ranged from 12% to 24%. Hines et al. (1987) estimated Quarter Horse brood mares at a BCS of 7 to have 16-18% body fat, while TB mares at a BCS of 8 averaged 16-18% body fat (Vick et al., 2006), and Quarter Horses at a BCS of 9 averaged 16-17% body fat. However, Powell et al. (2002)

differences in ranges may be explained two ways: 1) BCS estimates subcutaneous fat only and not intra-abdominal fat, therefore breed specific propensity to lay down fat in these two distinct areas may affect the range of percent body fat associated with that BCS, and 2) breeds may have different propensities to lay down rump fat, making the equations less accurate. To summarize, horses with a BCS of 3-4 have a percent body fat of 11-13%; a BCS of 4-5 correlates to a percent body fat of 7-11%; BCS 5-7 correlates to a percent body fat of 12-24% body fat; and horses of BCS 7-9 have a percent body fat of 16-35%.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN OBESITY AND METABOLIC DISORDERS

An association between obesity and the onset of metabolic disorders was first described in humans as the prevalence of hypertension, hyperglycemia, and gout in obese patients (Studien, 1923; Vague, 1947). More recently, this clustering of metabolic diseases with obesity has been termed the 'Metabolic Syndrome (MS)' by the World Health Organization. Metabolic diseases of the MS include insulin resistance (a metabolic precursor to diabetes) as a central component, diabetes type II, hypertension, microalbuminuria, dyslipidemia, and abdominal obesity (Balkau and Charles, 1999). One of the theories relating obesity and metabolic disturbances is that adipose tissue is a metabolically active tissue that produces several hormones and immune system-associated proteins, or adipokines (Eckel, 2005; Despres, 2003; Duncan, 2001; Pickup, 2004). Of these adipokines, the pro-inflammatory cytokines (PIC) are also active innate immune system components with a multitude of functions in the response of an animal to an infectious event (Razonable, 2006). These

functions include the production of the inflammatory response: including both fever (Saigusa, 1990; Kawasaki et al., 1989) and cachexia (Tracey et al., 1988), which are physiological responses that promote the recovery of an animal from an infection (Hermann et al., 2005; Tracey et al., 1988). During cachexia, energy intake decreases and therefore, one important function of the PIC is to increase energy availability through disrupting normal lipid and glucose metabolism (Delano and Moldawer, 2006; Plata-Salaman, 1998). Because the sickness response is transient, normal metabolism is restored once the animal recovers from infection.

In obesity, the continual up-regulation of PIC is thought to contribute to the development of both dyslipidemia (Hardardottir et al., 1994) and insulin resistance (Hotamisligil, 1999). Through their finding that the onset of diabetes type II was consistent with activation of the innate immune system, Pickup et al. (1997) were the first to uncover a link between the development of metabolic diseases of obesity and inflammatory markers, including both pro-inflammatory cytokines (PIC) and acute phase proteins. Later studies corroborated this evidence through the repeated association of the onset of type II diabetes, insulin resistance (a metabolic precursor to diabetes type II), or dyslipidemia, or both with increased circulating levels of PIC (Bonora et al., 2003; Chan et al., 2002; Schmidt et al, 1999; Pickup and Crook, 1998; Pickup, 2004). One of the PIC associated with increasing adiposity is tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF), which will be discussed in detail later in this review. The metabolic diseases of obesity are therefore theorized to result from a chronic low-grade systemic inflammation (Das et al., 2001; Dunkin and Schmidt, 2001; Engstrom et al., 2003;

Festa et al., 2000; Kershaw and Flier, 2004; Pickup et al., 2004; Trayhurn and Wood., 2004; Vettor, 2005; Yudkin et al., 1999).

The progression of BW gain and onset of obesity in the horse have also been linked to several metabolic disorders including insulin resistance (Freestone et al., 1991a; Hoffman et al., 2003), laminitis (Fontaine et al., 2001; Jeffcott et al., 1986), and disrupted lipid metabolism such as hypertriglyceridemia, hyperlipidemia, or hyperlipemia (Jeffcott and Field, 1985a; Hughes et al., 2004; Kronfeld et al., 2006). Obesity in the equid has not been completely defined; however according to the Henneke BCS system, an 8 is considered fat, and 9 as extremely fat. Obesity may be better defined after the mechanisms relating obesity to metabolic disorders in the horse are more completely understood.

The Production of TNF in Adipose Tissue

Abdominal adipose tissue is composed of stromal vascular cells (preadipocytes, fibroblasts, and non-differentiated mesenchymal cells), differentiated adipocytes, and infiltrated macrophages, all of which have the ability to produce TNF (Cousin et al., 1999; Xu et al., 2003). The accumulation of adipose tissue in obesity parallels an increased infiltration of macrophages (Weisberg et al., 2003; Wellen, 2003; Xu et al., 2003). These macrophages are an important source of TNF production in adipose tissue through molecular signaling between adipocytes and macrophages (Weisberg et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2003). Adipocytes produce two chemokines that affect macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue: macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) (Do et al., 2006). Monocytes that are retained in the adipose tissue are able to

differentiate into macrophages that have enhanced inflammatory activity (Verhoeckx et al., 2004).

Macrophage migration inhibitory factor is a pleitropic hormone with inflammatory effects (Hirokawa et al., 1998) that includes its ability to prolong the lifespan of macrophages by protecting them from apoptosis (Bernhagen et al., 1998), counteract glucocorticoid- induced suppression of the immune system (Calandra et al., 1995; Calandra and Bucala, 1997), and up-regulate TNF expression in immune cells (Roger et al., 2001). Macrophage migration inhibitory factor deficient cells have down-regulated TNF receptor expression, and are hypo-responsive to TNF induced activity (Toh et al., 2006). Also, MIF levels are up-regulated in human patients with type 2 diabetes (Yabunaka et al., 2000). Skurk et al. (2005) showed *in vitro* that preadipocytes undergoing differentiation to mature adipocytes secrete MIF, and serum concentrations of MIF correlate to BMI in humans. Additionally, adipocytes may have different immunological properties than innate immune cells with regard to MIF expression, and may in fact constitutively secrete MIF (Calandra et al., 1994, 1998; Martiney et al., 2000).

Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is a hormone that attracts monocytes from the blood stream into the adipose tissue (Kanda et al., 2006). Serum concentrations of MCP-1 are significantly correlated to BMI, waist circumference, and other inflammatory markers (Kim et al., 2006), and it is up-regulated in the white adipose tissue of obese mice (Sartipy and Loskutoff, 2003; Takahashi et al., 2003), and humans (Christiansen et al., 2005). Both macrophage number and MCP-1 expression decrease after gastric bypass surgery- induced drastic weight loss in

morbidly obese patients (Cancello et al., 2005). Chen et al. (2005) found that dietinduced obese mice had elevated adipose tissue expression and plasma levels of MCP-1.

The major source of MCP-1 in adipose tissue has not been determined, but coculturing macrophages with adipocytes results in a significant upregulation of both MCP-1 and TNF. The upregulation of MCP-1 does not require direct contact between cell types, as media conditioned from macrophages could induce the MCP-1 increase from adipocytes (Suganami et al., 2005). Suganami et al. (2005) did not find that undifferentiated adipocytes produced MCP-1, while Wang et al. (2004) did, however production increased upon differentiation. In opposition to this Gerhardt et al. (2001) found that MCP-1 release was higher in undifferentiated adipocytes than in mature adipocytes. However, the majority of *in vitro* MCP-1 release may actually be due to the non-adipocyte cells in adipose tissue because endogenous TNF promotes an increase in MCP-1 levels from non-fat cells during incubation (Fain et al., 2005). It is probable that all cell types in adipose tissue produce MCP-1, and differences in experimental results may be due to *in vitro* conditions that are unable to exactly simulate *in vivo* conditions.

Increases in MCP-1 protein levels precede increases in TNF expression in adipose tissue, suggesting that MCP-1 has a role in TNF expression (Chen et al., 2005). However, TNF exposure also stimulates MCP-1 release (Fain, 2006; Bruun et al., 2005; Gerhardt et al., 2001). The drug etanercept (Enbrel®, Immunex Corp., Seattle WA), a TNF inhibitor does not reduce MCP-1 production, suggesting that if TNF is involved in MCP-1 release, it is at least not required for it (Fain and Madden,

2006). From this evidence it is plausible that recruitment of macrophages through MCP-1 production also results in increased TNF production from macrophages and adipocytes, and that this increased TNF then has a feed forward effect on MCP-1 production and further macrophage recruitment- a feed forward cycle of obesity.

Tumor necrosis factor- α production is stimulated by bacterial products such as LPS (Chung et al., 2006; Fain, 2006; Flad et al., 1989; Islam et al., 2004), viruses, TNF (Wang et al., 2005) and free fatty acids (Baldeweg et al., 2000). The mechanisms of production and release of TNF in obese adipose tissue are incompletely understood, but are most likely due to more than one factor. It is downregulated by drugs such as cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors (Fain, 2006), phosphodiesterase inhibitors (Morjaria, et al., 2006), glucocorticoids (Waage, 1987), and thiazolidinediones (Murase et al., 1998). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a known inducer of TNF production and release, from most cell types, and induces a concentration dependent stimulation of the synthesis of TNF in hepatocytes (Thirunavukkarasu et al., 2006). In adipocytes, pretreatment with inhibitors to proteins in the LPS-stimulated TNF signal transduction cascade does not affect basal release levels of TNF, suggesting that basal TNF release is constitutive and independent of the LPS-stimulated pathway (Nakajima et al., 2004; Thirunavukkarasu et al., 2006). Kern et al. (1995) also found that adipocyte TNF was not stimulated by LPS. Therefore, adipocyte TNF expression and release may be regulated differently from the mechanisms that regulate macrophage TNF expression and release.

The major producer of TNF may not be adipocytes, but instead a different cell type in adipose tissue. Sewter et al. (1999) found that stimulation of adipose tissue with LPS resulted in a 1000% increase in TNF release, whereas release from isolated adipocytes only increased 150%, suggesting that the major TNF producer in adipose tissue is not adipocytes. Chung et al. (2005) and Creeley et al. (2006) also found that TNF expression increased in adipose tissue following LPS exposure, and that this occurred primarily in the non-adipocyte fraction. LPS is often used as a TNF stimulator to measure tissue TNF production, however, LPS is present only during states of acute infection. Therefore, the increases of TNF seen in obesity may be regulated by a pathway that is independent of LPS stimulation.

Without LPS stimulation, Fain et al. (2004) found that TNF release from obese human adipose tissue was primarily attributed to the non-fat cells. It is also possible that that the non-adipocyte fraction of adipose tissue is responsible for producing a necessary stimulatory factor that is absent when the cell types are separated. A time dependent study showed that TNF release from isolated adipocytes decreased across time, while the non-fat portion of adipose tissue had no change in TNF release (Fain, 2006). These findings were later reinforced through demonstrating that TNF release by adipose tissue without lipid was the same as adipose tissue with lipid and both were significantly greater than isolated adipocytes (Fain, 2006). Xu et al. (2003) also noted that the majority of TNF mRNA was lowest in adipocyte fractions of adipose tissue. In opposition to these results, Hotamisligil (1993) found that when adipocytes were separated from the rest of the adipose tissue, the majority of TNF mRNA fractionated with adipocytes and not the stromal vascular

fraction. Overall, these results indicate that the non-adipocyte fraction of adipose tissue is most likely the main producer of TNF, and that while adipocytes may produce some constitutive TNF, up-regulation of TNF most likely requires a signal from the non-adipose fraction (Fain et al., 2004b).

Effects of Body Fat on TNF

In horses, circulating concentrations of TNF have been positively correlated to BCS (Vick et al., 2007); however most of the evidence for the effects of body fat on TNF come from either rodent or human studies. In humans, adipose tissue TNF mRNA expression correlates with degree of adiposity (Bullo et al., 2003; Hotamisligil et al., 1995; Hube and Hauner, 1999; Kern et al., 1995), while BW loss correlates with decreasing TNF concentrations (Dandona et al., 1998; Samuelsson et al., 2003; Ziccardi et al., 2002). In rodents, adipose tissue TNF mRNA levels are five to ten fold higher in obese vs. lean animals (Hotamisligil et al., 1993). There are a few conflicting results however, as even when adipose tissue mRNA levels of TNF are markedly increased, a few authors have not found circulating protein levels to increase (Kellerer et al., 1996; Hauner et al., 1998a; Pfeiffer et al., 1997) or adipose tissue TNF concentration increased while circulating concentrations did not (Hotamisligil et al., 1995). Interestingly, patients with BMI > 45 (40 to 45% body fat), had decreased adipose tissue TNF mRNA (Kern, 1995).

In addition to changes in TNF mRNA and protein levels, changes in receptor levels have been noted in obesity. However, serum concentrations of the two types of receptors show dichotomous results; the 75 kd receptor may increase as much as six fold in obese vs. lean subjects (Hotamisligil et al., 1996), while no differences were

found in the concentrations of the 55kd receptor. In opposition to this, Hauner et al. (1998b) found that both receptor subtypes were increased 30-40% in obesity. These findings are not completely understood, though Hube and Hauner (1999) hypothesized that receptor up-regulation in obesity may be due to 1) a generally up regulated TNF system, 2) obesity induced receptor resistance, or 3) that soluble receptors serve to neutralize circulating TNF.

Obesity Associated Metabolic Disorders in the Horse

Insulin Resistance. Insulin resistance has been associated with obesity in the horse (Hoffman et al., 2002; Vick et al., 2007), although it is more prominent among pony breeds than horse breeds (Jeffcott and Field, 1986). Horses in a BCS range of 4-6 were not found to be insulin resistant (Nadeau et al., 2006). Insulin resistance is improved with exercise, as 7 days of light training improved insulin sensitivity in obese mares (Powell et al, 2002). Freestone et al. (1991b) noted that obese ponies (BCS 8-9) conditioned through exercise for 6 weeks, had decreased plasma insulin concentrations. However, ponies that lost BW through diet alone also had improved insulin sensitivity.

Insulin resistance in humans has been associated with abdominal adipose mass and high BMI (Abate et al., 1996; Farin et al., 2006; Festa et al., 2001; Janowska et al., 2006; Karter et al., 1996; Mazzali et al., 2006; Salmenniemi et al., 2004; Snijder et al., 2004; Weiss et al., 2004). Following a 17% reduction in weight, obese subjects had significantly decreased serum insulin levels, indicating decreased insulin resistance (Hotamisligil et al., 1995). However, Xydakis et al. (2004) showed that after 7% weight loss (BMI decreased from 39 to 36), obese subjects did not have

decreased TNF levels, but did have increased insulin sensitivity. The lack of change in TNF may be due to the only slight decrease in BMI, while the concurrent increase in insulin sensitivity indicates that there are multiple factors involved in the regulation of insulin resistance in obesity.

The overproduction of TNF in adipose tissue of obese rodents and obese people (Hotamisligil et al., 1995) has been implicated in the development of obesity related insulin resistance (Hotamisligil et al., 1993; Hotamisligil et al., 1995). In humans, infusing recombinant human TNF reduces whole body glucose uptake (Krogh-Madsen et al., 2006; Plomgard et al., 2005), and patients with the highest expression levels of adipose tissue TNF mRNA levels were also the patients with the most cases of diabetes, dyslipidemia, and hypertension (Bullo et al., 2003). You et al. (2005) demonstrated that hyperinsulinemia, a metabolic precursor to diabetes type II, was positively associated with adipose tissue TNF gene expression in women. Additionally, the number of metabolic syndrome components observed in obese subjects was negatively associated with circulating concentrations of an alternatively spliced TNF receptor, known to antagonize TNF action (Fernandez-Real et al., 2006). Thus, Hotamisligil (1999) hypothesized that TNF may directly result in obesity induced insulin resistance.

In vitro TNF results in the loss of insulin's stimulatory effect on glucose uptake into adipocytes (Hauner et al., 1995). Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF) may induce insulin resistance through increasing serine phosphorylation on insulin receptor substrate-1(IRS-1). Increased serine phosphorylation decreases electrophoretic mobility, thereby interfering with tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1

and impairing insulin action (Feinstein et al., 1993; Kanety et al., 1995). Administration of a soluble TNF receptor resulted in marked increases in IRS-1 phosphorylation in the muscle and adipose tissue of obese Zucker rats (Hotamisligil et al., 1994). Tumor necrosis factor- α also acts to decrease insulin receptor, IRS-1, and GLUT4 mRNA expression and protein levels, as well as GLUT4 plasma membrane translocation (Hauner et al., 1995; Lumeng et al., 2006; Stephens et al., 1997). Thiazolidinediones have a counteractive effect on TNF induced insulin resistance (Hernandez et al., 2004; Osei et al., 2005). However, while Uysal et al. (1997) noted that TNF deficient ob/ob mice had improved insulin sensitivity over obese controls, other studies suggest that a TNF knockout is not sufficient to prevent obesity associated insulin resistance in rodent models of obesity (Schreyver, 1998; Ventre, 1997). In horses, TNF concentration is positively correlated with the degree of insulin resistance (Vick et al., 2007).

There is significant evidence for the involvement of TNF in the induction of insulin resistance of obese individuals, however there may be other mechanisms involved in this disorder. Insulin resistance is considered to be the central component of the human metabolic syndrome and therefore it is also possible that insulin resistance is also the central component of equine obesity associated metabolic disorders.

Laminitis. Laminitis is a metabolic disease characterized by inflammation of the laminar structures (epidermal-dermal junction) which attach the third phalanx (P3) to the inner hoof wall. Healthy laminae are a metabolically active tissue requiring constant energy sources in order to continually maintain attachment of P3 against the
forces of locomotion and BW of the horse. The equine hoof contains two extensive vascular beds that are under hypothalamic control (Hales and Molyneux, 1985; Pollitt, 1991): the arteriovenous anastomoses, the shunts that allow blood to bypass the capillaries at a faster rate and prevent the horse from developing frostbite (Pollitt, 1991), and the capillary bed- the microvasculature of the laminar structures (Field and Jeffcott, 1989; Hood et al., 1993; Pollitt and Davies, 1998). In severe cases, P3 can completely detach from the hoof wall and rotate through the bottom of the sole.

Obesity is a risk factor for the development of laminitis that may allow certain triggers to have more of an effect than in lean animals (Alford et al., 2002; Budras et al., 2001). Documented laminitic triggers include the ingestion of large amounts of grain (carbohydrate overload) (Garner, et al., 1975), lush grass (Longland et al., 1999), black walnut shavings (Eaton, et al., 1995; Minnick et al., 1975), endometritis (Broome et al., 1992), severe infections (Miller et al., 1983), cortisol dysfunction (French, 2000; Johnson, 2004) and obesity (Kronfeld et al., 2006). Laminitis occurs in both a chronic, long term form and an acute form (Cripps and Eustace, 1999).

The most common method of experimentally inducing laminitis is through carbohydrate overload. Excess carbohydrates are fermented in the hindgut, leading to pH changes that cause death of bacteria and the release of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) across the intestinal mucosa into the circulation (Field and Jeffcott, 1989). Following carbohydrate overload there is high capillary pressure, which may enhance capillary filtration and interstitial fluid accumulation, allowing a compartment syndrome to develop (Allen et al., 1990). Following carbohydrate overload, total vascular resistance in the hoof increased to 3.5 times normal, while digital blood flow was

reduced to one half. The disproportionate change in pressure and flow suggests the use of the arteriovenous anastomoses to shunt blood through the digit. Peroni et al. (2005b) described a dysfunction to venoconstriction and relaxation during the development of laminitis that was restricted to laminar veins, with laminar arteries not affected. Constriction of the veins would increase capillary pressure, forcing extra blood to flow through the arteriovenous anastomoses. It is possible that the vasculature of the equine hoof is biologically predisposed to venoconstriction, explaining why laminitis can result from such a variety of conditions (Peroni, 2005a).

Lipopolysaccharide, when released into the blood stream, may be a factor in the onset of laminitis; however, experimentally induced endotoxemia does not cause laminitis (Pollitt, 1999). Lipopolysaccharide alone has little effect on constriction and relaxation of the vascular system; therefore, it is most likely that the effects of LPS are mediated through the induction of vasoconstrictors. These may include TNF, as Menzies-Gow et al. (2004) found a 30-fold increase in TNF concentrations at 60 minutes after administration of LPS. Bueno et al. (1999) and Seethanathan et al. (1990) also found increased TNF activity after LPS administration. The PIC, interleukin-1 β , had upregulated mRNA levels in the perivascular cells of capillaries in horses administered black walnut extract (Fontaine et al., 2001), supporting the idea of inflammatory changes in the hooves of horses with laminitis. In opposition to this, Rodgerson et al. (2001) did not find TNF mRNA to be upregulated in smooth muscle cells obtained from digital arteries exposed to LPS in vitro. Because it appears that most of the vascular changes occur in the venous side of the capillary bed, it would be more relevant to study inflammatory changes there.

During the development of laminitis, the enzymatic remodeling process of the hoof may be disrupted (Pollitt, 1999). In the normal healthy hoof, metalloproteinase-2 (MMP2) and metalloproteinase-9 (MMP9) act catabolically to facilitate the constant downward growth of the hoof wall and are regulated by controlled release of specific MMP inhibitors. Increased MMP production has been noted in lamellar tissues affected by laminitis (Johnson et al., 1998), and in other species, MMP production increases upon exposure to PIC (Pollitt, 1999). Although it is unknown as to whether MMP upregulation directly causes disruption of the lamellar attachment, tissues cultured from laminitic hooves show this MMP upregulation preceding detachment of P3 (Pollitt, 1999). *In vitro* both gram positive and gram negative bacteria induce dose dependent activation of MMP2 and MMP9, as well as causing separation of lamellar tissues in hoof explants. This is most likely through the production of exotoxins and endotoxins (Mungall et al., 2000).

Pro-inflammatory cytokines may also control the endothelins, which are implicated in laminitis induction (Russell and Davenport, 1999; Battistini et al., 1993). Endothelin-1 expression is increased in the hoof connective tissue of laminitic horses (Katwa et al., 1999) and plasma concentrations are increased in horses with experimentally induced laminitis (Holm, 2002). However, Menzies-Gow et al. (2004) did not find increased endothelin-1 concentrations after experimental LPS administration. Endothelin-1 induces a concentration-dependent contraction in both equine arterial veins and arteries, with veins being more sensitive, suggesting that endothelins can selectively induce digital venoconstriction (Katz et al., 2003). Normal vascular flow is maintained through interactions with nitric oxide, a

vasodilator (Fleming and Busse, 1999; Russell and Davenport, 1999). Vascular endothelial cells produce and continually release endothelin-1, in low concentrations.

Two endothelin receptors, endothelin receptor A (ETA) and endothelin receptor B (ETB) are differentially expressed throughout the capillary beds of the hoof. Endothelin receptor A and ETB present on the vascular smooth muscle cells mediate vasoconstriction, while ETB present on the vascular endothelial cells mediate vasodilation through nitric oxide pathways. High levels of these receptors may be induced by several factors, including activated platelets, endotoxin, thrombin, PIC, hormones, hypoxia, and ischemia (Russell and Davenport, 1999; Battistini et al., 1993). However, the specific interactions between PIC and endothelins, and their effects on the vascular system are unknown. While it is possible that increases in systemic TNF occurring during obesity may play a role in the development of chronic laminitis through inducing vascular changes or disrupting enzymatic remodeling, it is also possible that TNF action is restricted to the acute form of laminitis seen after exposure to endotoxin.

Another possible explanation for the relationship of laminitis and obesity is that of insulin resistance, as laminitis has been directly linked to insulin resistance in high BCS ponies. Kronfeld et al. (2006) found that previously laminitic ponies had compensated insulin resistance- a decreased insulin sensitivity with a greater pancreatic secretion of insulin. When a portion of these ponies developed clinical laminitis, insulin levels significantly increased. In two of the cases, insulin secretion began to fail, indicating a diabetic like condition. Coffman and Colles (1983) found that ponies affected with chronic laminitis were significantly less sensitive to insulin

than normal ponies. These results were also noted by Jeffcott et al. (1986), when comparing laminitic ponies to normal controls. The link between insulin resistance and laminitis may also be due to decreased glucose uptake by the lamellar tissues (French and Pollitt, 2004). Explants of horse hooves maintained in glucose solution did not undergo lamellar separation, whereas those maintained in saline underwent a lamellar separation characteristic of laminitis (Pass et al., 1998). This provides evidence for the hypothesis that insulin resistance leading to decreased glucose uptake is a risk factor for the development of laminitis through the reduction of energy substrates available to the metabolically active laminae.

Hyperlipemia/Hyperlipidemia. During normal metabolism, fatty acids are released from the adipose tissue by the enzyme hormone sensitive lipase (HSL). Hormone sensitive lipase activity is inhibited by insulin and glucose, but increased by glucagon, thus releasing fatty acids during fasting, when glycogen stores are low (Watson et al., 1992a). Fatty acids are primarily taken up by the liver, where they are either oxidized to acetyl CoA, used for gluconeogenesis, or esterified to triglycerides and stored, or released as very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) (Jeffcott and Field, 1985; Naylor, 1982; Watson and Love, 1994). In circulation, fatty acids are released from VLDL's via the enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL) located in the capillary endothelium, and used for energy by adipocytes, skeletal, and cardiac cells (Watson and Love, 1994). Mogg and Palmer, 1995).

In horses, hyperlipidemia is characterized by circulating triglycerides (TGL) levels of 1-5 mmol/liter, while hyperlipemia is characterized by circulating TGL greater than 5 mmol/ liter, giving the plasma a cloudy appearance (Naylor, 1982).

Hyperlipemia is marked by hepatic lipidosis, fat infiltration of body tissues, organ dysfunction, and a high mortality rate (Naylor, 1980; Watson et al., 1992a; Schotman and Wagenaar, 1968). Schotman and Wagenaar (1968) found that as plasma total lipids increased, the percent of Shetland ponies that survived hyperlipemia decreased, demonstrating the lethality of this condition.

Hyperlipemia most often occurs as a result of a disease or metabolic process that causes marked negative energy balance, such as food deprivation or the metabolic demands of pregnancy and lactation (Frank et al., 2002; Schotman and Wagenaar, 1968; Seifi et al., 2002). Eighty-three to 100% of miniature horse cases (Mogg and Palmer, 1995), 30% of pony breeds cases (Gay, 1978; Watson, 1992), and 100% of horse cases of hyperlipemia or hyperlipidemia are caused by a primary disease or metabolic problem. Hyperlipemia is most prevalent among pony breeds and donkeys (Jeffcott, 1985; Watson and Love, 1992; Gilbert, 1986), with horse breeds rarely effected, although horses may develop hyperlipidemia. Ponies have a greater propensity to release free fatty acids from adipocytes upon norepinephrine stimulation than do horses; however plasma clearance rates do not differ between sub-species (Breidenbach et al., 1999).

Hyperlipemia may also occur in insulin resistant animals (Jeffcott and Field, 1985). Insulin signaling is important for regulating the activity of HSL through inhibition, and LPL through activation. In the case of insulin resistance, HSL and LPL may not be regulated properly, leading to over release of triglycerides (TGL) from the liver, and TGL accumulation in the blood (Watson and Love, 1992; Breidenbach et al., 1999). Hyperlipemia may also result from inadequate clearance

of VLDL from the blood (Freestone, 1991b); however, others report that LPL activity was not decreased in hyperlipemia (Watson and Love, 1992). Because ponies have a propensity to develop insulin resistance, they also have a greater risk of hyperlipemia (Jeffcott and Field, 1985).

Obesity tends to be a predisposing factor (Watson and Love, 1992; Jeffcott and Field, 1985; Mogg, 1995, Jeffcott, 1986), and there is incidental evidence that a positive correlation exists between body condition score and hyperlipemia risk (Forhead, 1994; Freestone, 1992; Reid and Mohammed, 1996). Reid and Mohammed (1996) found that overweight donkeys were at a higher risk for developing hyperlipemia, and when Watson et al. (1990) compared donkeys in thin, ideal, and obese body condition, they found that plasma VLDL concentration correlated significantly with condition. Obese animals have a greater store of fat to mobilize, and insulin resistance may promote lipid enzyme regulatory problems. In a study on 31 donkeys with naturally occurring hyperlipidemia/ hyperlipemia, Forhead et al. (1994) found a positive correlation between plasma insulin and TGL concentrations, and greater insulin concentrations in greater body condition score animals. While Frank et al. (2006) found that obese insulin resistant horses had higher resting concentrations of VLDL, TGL, free fatty acids, and HDL- cholesterol. Additionally, 4 of 7 of these horses had chronic laminitis.

Tumor necrosis factor- α may also be involved in the onset of hyperlipemia. Kawakami et al. (1981) first noticed that exudate from LPS treated cells caused LPL suppression *in vitro*, and that the mediator of this effect was a heat labile protein. Pekala et al. (1983) showed that the exudate from LPS treated cells suppressed the

activities of acetyl CoA carboxylase and fatty acid synthetase in differentiating preadipocytes. Later studies showed that this protein was TNF and also that TNF may mediate some of the metabolic changes that produce hyperlipidemia through its effects on lipid metabolism (Grunfeld and Feingold, 1991). Circulating free fatty acids and glycerol levels increase following TNF administration in both rodents and humans, indicating that TNF has a role in inhibiting the anabolic activities of adipose tissue (Grunfeld et al., 1988; Feingold et al., 1987; Starnes et al., 1988). Patton et al. (1986) found that following *in vitro* TNF exposure, adipocytes had decreased lipid storage and synthesis, as well as stimulated release of fatty acids from adipocytes.

Within adipose tissue the functions of TNF include the suppression of several enzymes lipoprotein lipase at both the protein and gene levels (Ogawa et al., 1989; Kawakami et al., 1987; Zechner et al., 1988), decrease the synthesis of LPL (Kawakami et al., 1982; Pekala et al., 1983; Patton et al., 1986; Hauner et al., 1995), inhibition of both transcription factor C/EBP- α and the nuclear receptor PPAR γ (two masters of adipose cell differentiation), fatty acid binding protein 2, and metabolic enzymes such as fatty acid synthetase, acetyl CoA carboxylase, and GDPH, (Ogawa et al., 1989; Pekala et al., 1984; Torti et al., 1985). Tumor necrosis factor- α may stimulate adipocytes to mobilize lipids through activation of hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) (Ogawa et al., 1989), although Green et al. (1994) found no effect of TNF on HSL activity. Tumor necrosis factor- α has also been associated with increased lipolysis of adipose tissue (Feingold, 1992; Green, 1994), inhibition of fat cell recruitment, and possibly induction of fat cell apoptosis (Coppack et al., 2001; Hube and Hauner, 199; Prins et al., 1997; Wellen, 2003). It also acts to stimulate hepatic

triglyceride synthesis (Feingold and Grunfeld, 1987; Feingold et al., 1989; Chajek-Shaul et al., 1989) in rodents.

Tumor necrosis factor- α administered to healthy rats resulted in increased hepatic weight, plasma TGL concentrations, hepatic TGL content, and fatty acid synthesis in the liver (Feingold, 1987). However, the ability of TNF to induce hepatic fatty acid synthesis was limited to the liver, as no changes were seen in other tissues. On an immediate basis, TNF increases fatty acid synthesis by increasing intracellular levels of citrate, an allosteric activator of acetyl CoA carboxylase (Grunfeld et al., 1988). Long term, TNF increases levels of acetyl CoA carboxylase and fatty acid synthetase, and decreases levels of hepatic fatty acyl CoA. Additionally, in obese adult men, LPL activity was inversely proportional to TNF expression, and with BW loss, LPL activity increased to 411% of initial levels (Kern, 1995). During the sickness response, the normal function of TNF is to increase circulating levels of fatty acids for energy, and it is possible that this function is extrapolated to the disruption of lipid metabolism found in the metabolic syndrome.

Dietary Effects on TNF and Metabolic Syndrome Components

In both rodents and humans, high fat diets may result in increased TNF expression and release as shown by Borst and Conover (2005). Rats fed a high fat diet showed significantly higher mRNA levels of the 17 Kd form of TNF in both red gastrocnemius muscle (2 fold elevation) and in visceral fat (54% increase) when compared to rats on a control diet. However, serum levels were undetectable in both groups. Rats fed to obesity on a 45% fat diet (primarily consisting of corn oil) had

significantly greater TNF bioactivity in the retro-peritoneal fat pad, than rats fed a control 12% fat diet (Morin et al., 1997).

Type of dietary fat may have effects on TNF concentrations, but the results of several studies are conflicting. Obese men fed fish oil caplets did not experience any changes in TNF plasma concentrations (Jellema et al., 2004). This result is consistent with those found in rodents with sucrose-induced metabolic syndrome, in which fish oil administration had no effect on TNF concentration (Alexander et al., 2004). However, in these rats, the symptoms of the metabolic syndrome were alleviated by the fish oil diet. Opposing results were seen by Muurling et al. (2003), in which mice with preexisting insulin resistance were fed fish oil. After 10 weeks of 3g/day of fish oil, the insulin resistant mice had lower TNF protein in their white adipose tissue, but there was no improvement in insulin sensitivity. Mice on the same study that were diet restricted to 75% of ad libitum intake, but not fed fish oil, had improved insulin sensitivity as well as decreased TNF protein levels. Additionally, when mice on two different fat diets were injected with LPS, the mice fed a fish oil diet had significantly lower TNF responses than mice fed a low fat diet (Sadeghi et al., 1999). These results suggest that fish oil has the ability to diminish the production of TNF *in vivo*. In horses, α -linolenic acid supplementation reduces LPS-induced TNF production by macrophages in vitro (Morris, 1991).

TNF concentrations in humans are increased by diets that are high in hydrogenated fats when compared to the polyunsaturated fat found in soybean oil, although saturated fat (butter) had no effect on TNF (Han et al., 2002). Interestingly, baboons fed a high fat diet (41% fat, ratio of polyunsaturated/saturated fats = 0.33), in

comparison to a low fat diet (7% fat, ratio of polyunsaturated/saturated fats = 2.2), had increased TNF plasma concentrations at 3 week dietary challenge. By week 7 though, their TNF values had fallen below baseline (Shi et al., 2005). It is possible that the initial increase was due to an acute stress response to the dietary change. Contrary to these results, diets high in starch and sugar, and low in fat and fiber, have been shown to decrease insulin sensitivity in the horse (Hoffman et al., 2003; Treiber et al., 2005). The dichotomy of results may be due to the relatively low percent of fat in horse feeds as compared to the diets of humans or rodents. In this case insulin resistance may be due to the high sugar content of the feeds as well as meal feeding, which contrasts to the evolutionary development of the horse as a continual grazer. To date no studies have been conducted on the effects of high fat diets on TNF production in the horse, and therefore, the interaction and effects are unknown.

SUMMARY

Obesity in horses is a condition sometimes accompanied by the development of metabolic disorders. Not only are these metabolic disorders potentially fatal, but they are also expensive to treat and in the case of laminitis, extremely painful to the animal. The mechanisms by which obese animals develop metabolic disorders are not completely understood, but it is possible that obesity induced up-regulation of TNF is involved. While a complete understanding of these mechanisms is required in order to develop adequate treatment strategies, the prevention of disorders that result from obesity, through the prevention of obesity, is also an important management tactic. This includes the ability to monitor equine condition on a continual basis in order to adjust feed and exercise requirements. Body condition scoring is a no-

expense, easily applied system for measuring adiposity, and therein lays its usefulness for the prevention of obesity.

Chapter 3: Manuscript 1

Effects of diet and weight gain on body condition scoring in Thoroughbred geldings

J.K. Suagee, A. O. Burk, R. W. Quinn, E. D. Petersen, T. G. Hartsock, and L. W. Douglass¹

Department of Animal and Avian Sciences, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, 20740

¹ Funded in part by the Maryland Agricultural Experiment Grant program. The authors wish to thank the staff of the Central Maryland Research and Education Center and the graduate and undergraduate students for their assistance with this study.

ABSTRACT

Subcutaneous fat deposition is an indicator of energy balance in horses, and is therefore useful in making feeding management decisions. The most commonly used body condition scoring (BCS) system was developed in light breed mares and assigns a subjective score of fat accretion at six different body areas. While the system is useful, its drawbacks include that it may not be applicable to all horse breeds or genders and that the written definitions of fat accretion are non specific and often difficult to use. The main objective of this study was to examine the usefulness of the Henneke BCS system for Thoroughbred (TB) geldings through examining effects of weight gain and diet on body area fat accretion in these horses. A second goal of this study was to use the information gained to modify the Henneke BCS system, such that it is specific to TB geldings. In this study, fifteen mature TB geldings were fed for weight gain over a nine month period on either a high in starch and sugar (HS) diet or a high in fat and fiber (HF) diet, and were independently assessed for body area BCS on a monthly basis by two experienced judges using the Henneke BCS system. Throughout the study body area fat accretion characteristics were recorded. Differences between judge scores ranged from 0.10 to 0.81 across all time periods and body areas. Neither judge scored consistently higher than the other. Across the study period, neck scores averaged greater than those of withers and during months two through eight, neck scores averaged greater than loin scores. Out of 62 possible combinations of body areas, 37 were able to predict the mean BCS with a 95% prediction interval of \leq 0.5 scores, including six 5-body area equations, eleven 4-body area equations, and seventeen 3-body area equations. The results of this study suggest that a more accurate BCS system for Thoroughbreds should be developed and that a fewer subset of body areas may be used to predict BCS.

Keywords: body condition score, body fat, horse, weight gain

INTRODUCTION

Body condition scoring is a subjective method of estimating subcutaneous fat cover in many livestock species, and is one of the most widely used indices of energy balance in equine feeding management. Body condition scores (BCS) are often used as either a statistical blocking factor or response factor in nutrition, physiology, and reproductive studies. Therefore, the ability to assess temporal changes in fat deposition, hence energy balance, is useful not only to researchers, but also to veterinarians and horse owners. The Henneke (1983) BCS system was developed in pre-parturient Quarter horse mares with fat cover scored on a scale of 1 (thin) to 9 (fat) by physical palpation and visual assessment of six discrete body areas; neck, withers, shoulders, ribs, loin, and tailhead. Henneke's system is the most widely used

system and has been applied to all breeds, ages, and genders of horses. This has been done without determining if the system accurately describes body area fat accretion in these different classes of horses, or if all classes of horses accrue subcutaneous fat in the same locations.

Diet may also affect body area adipose gain as a result of the possible differences in efficiency of fat storage when the proportion of fat to carbohydrate changes. High fat diets have been used to induce obesity in rodents (Borst et al., 2005; West and York, 1998), however, in horses it is unknown whether a high fat diet will increase either overall BCS gain or individual body area rates of gain.

The main objective of this study was to evaluate the usefulness of the Henneke BCS system for Thoroughbred (TB) geldings, and also to determine whether modifications to the system are needed for that specific population of horses. Two additional goals of the study were to determine if 1) dietary energy source affected fat accretion rates, and 2) if a smaller subset of body areas could be used to accurately predict the overall mean BCS using the Henneke BCS system.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted over a period of 10 months, from July 2005 to May 2006 at the University of Maryland's Equine Research Unit, in Ellicott City, MD and was approved by the University of Maryland's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. It was conducted in accordance with a companion study investigating the effect of diet and weight gain on insulin sensitivity (Quinn, 2007).

Horses

Fifteen mature Thoroughbred geldings (initial BW range 466 to 596 kg, initial BCS range 3.8 to 5.1; initial age range 5 to 15 y) were used in this study. All horses received routine veterinary health care including vaccinations- Eastern, Western, and Venezuelan encephalitis, Rhinopneumonitis, Influenza, Tetanus (Prestige V + VEE, Intervet, Millsboro, DE) Potomac horse fever and West Nile (Potomac Guard and West Nile Innovator, Fort Dodge Animal Health, Overland Park, KS), dental care, and a broad spectrum dewormer (Zimecterin Gold Ivermectin/Praziquantel, Merial, Duluth, GA) before the start of the study and throughout the study as needed. Horses were housed in individual (3.6 m^2) box stalls with rubber mats and wood pellet litter (Woody Pet Products, Surrey, BC, Canada). Horses were weighed on a livestock platform scale (Central Carolina Scale, Sanford, NC) prior to the start of the study, and then weekly thereafter. Horses were housed in the barn for three weeks prior to the start of the study to allow for acclimation the experimental conditions.

Diets

During the three week acclimation period, horses received mixed grass/alfalfa hay and a commercially available concentrate (Legends 10, Southern States Cooperative, Richmond, VA) fed to meet their daily DE requirement for maintenance (NRC, 1989). After the acclimation period horses were randomly assigned to one of two experimental concentrates designed to be isonitrogenous and isoenergetic, but differing in energy source, either high in starch and sugar (HS; n = 9) or fiber and fat (HF; n = 6) (Table 1). Horses were transitioned onto the treatment feeds over a period of 14 d. Horses were fed a mixed grass/legume hay and either the HS or HF

concentrate at a ratio of 60% DE from hay and 40% DE from concentrate. Hay was fed in a wooden box mounted on the floor in the corner and grain was fed from canvas feed bags (Country Supply, Louisiana, MO). Total daily intake of hay and concentrate was split into two meals fed at 0800 and 1900. Hay was offered first, with concentrate offered immediately following. Refusals of concentrate were collected and weighed after each feeding. Refusals of hay were collected and weighed on a daily basis, before the 0800 feeding. Intake of hay and concentrate was recorded daily.

Hay samples were obtained by random core sampling from no less than 25% of the hay used in the study (n = 14). Concentrate samples were obtained by random grab sampling (n = 8) on a monthly basis. Hay and concentrate were submitted for nutrient analysis to a commercial laboratory (Table 1) (Dairy One, Ithaca, NY). Access to fresh clean water and salt blocks containing only sodium chloride were available at all times.

Weight Gain

Horses were fed at maintenance for four weeks to allow for acclimation to the treatment diets, and then feeds were increased to weight gain intake levels over a period of one week. Horses were fed for a targeted weight gain of 23 kg per three weeks, which was previously shown to result in a gain of one BCS score (Heusner, 1993). In order to achieve the targeted weight gain, hay and concentrate was fed to provide each horse with an additional 20 Mcal DE above their daily DE requirement for maintenance. Horses were fed for weight gain over a period of eight months, August, 2005 to April, 2006. Five months after the start of the study, an additional

seven Mcal DE was offered daily to each horse via concentrate at 1400 h in order to encourage an increase in ADG.

Exercise

Horses were exercised at a walk (1.5m/s) for 35 min twice daily on a six horse automated equine exerciser (Priefert, Mt. Pleasant, TX). Horses were permanently assigned to one of three exercise groups, which were exercised in a random order, between 0900-1100 and 1630-1830. The companion study included a two week minimal exercise period following the weight gain period of the study; however data from that period was not used in this study.

Body Condition Scoring

Body condition scores were assessed monthly by two independent judges using a BCS system with a nine point scale (Henneke et al., 1983). Judges were selected based on their equine expertise and knowledge of the BCS system. Each judge conducted their body condition scoring independently of each other, but scores were obtained within 24 h of each other. On three occasions, scores could not be obtained by both judges, and in this case, body condition scoring by both judges was conducted the following week. Each of the six body areas (neck, withers, shoulders, ribs, loin, and tailhead) were assessed using both physical palpation (e.g., gently pressing or pinching fat along the designated body area) and visual appraisal in order to determine the amount of fat present. Body areas were scored, and an average of the six was used as a mean BCS for each horse at each assessment period. Additionally, observations of fat accretion characteristics were recorded throughout the study, which included both visual and physical observations of fat fill, tone, and feel, to be used for describing subcutaneous fat accumulation in TB geldings.

Statistical Analysis

Monthly body weight data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA using the mixed models procedure of SAS (v. 9.1 SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) in order to determine the effects of month and diet. Monthly BCS data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA in order to determine the effects of month and diet. Monthly DE intakes were analyzed at each month by ANOVA in order to determine the effects of diet.

Judge precision. In order to analyze the precision between the two judges, data were analyzed using aggregate analysis according to methods adapted from those described previously (Bland and Altman, 1986), where the differences between judges' scores (DIFF) of each body area served as the dependent variable. The effects of diet, body part, and month on DIFF were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA. Significance was established from least squares means, which tested the mean DIFF as being significantly different from zero. A α level of *P* < 0.05 was used for the determination of significance.

Agreement of body area scores. The effects of time and diet on body area scores were determined using repeated measures ANOVA. A α level of P < 0.05 was used for the determination of significance.

Prediction of BCS. To determine whether a smaller subset of body areas could accurately predict the overall BCS, prediction equations were generated. For this analysis, judge scores were averaged. All possible combinations of body areas were

run individually through a mixed model ANOVA, with mean BCS as the dependent variable and the specific combination of body areas to be tested as the predictor variables. Influence diagnostics were used to remove one horse at a time from each equation through the use of influence statistics. The predicted residual sums of squares (PRESS) statistic represents the observed (actual mean BCS) minus predicted (group mean BCS) when one observation is deleted, which in this case is the mean BCS for an individual horse. The PRESS statistics were summed (sPRESS) and used to determine the prediction r^2 using the equation [(Total sums of squares-Month sums of squares) – (sPRESS] / [Total sums of squares - month sums of squares]. Prediction intervals were calculated from the confidence intervals by the equation ($\sqrt{}$ (sPRESS/ horse sums of squares))*confidence interval. Thus prediction equations were developed on all horses minus one, and then asked to predict the one horse that was deleted. Weighted coefficients for each prediction equation were determined using estimate statements.

RESULTS

Average monthly digestible energy (DE) intakes were similar between dietary groups and shown in Table 2. Average BW prior to the initiation of and at the end of weight gain was 519 ± 12 kg and 608 ± 12 kg, respectively. Weight gain over the course of the study resulted in an average increase in BCS from 4.3 ± 0.1 to 6.9 ± 0.1 . There was no main effect of diet on either mean BW or BCS, therefore monthly means were averaged across diets and presented in Figure 1.

Judge precision was not different between dietary groups, however there was an interaction between time and body area (P < 0.001) for judge precision (Table 3).

Judges scored differently at 52% of the assessments with differences ranging from 0.28 to 0.81 scores (P < 0.05). Neither judge scored consistently either higher or lower than the other.

Figure 2 shows the interaction between body area and diet (P = 0.015) for body area scores. Horses on the HF diet had higher scores at the neck (P = 0.030) and withers (P = 0.060). Figure 3 shows the interaction between time and body area (P < 0.001) for body area scores. Neck scored higher than withers and loin from Sep through Apr, and neck also scored higher than loin from Oct through Apr.

There were 62 possible combinations of body areas that were evaluated for their ability to predict the mean BCS (Table 4). Of these, 37 equations had a 95% prediction interval of ≤ 0.50 scores, which ranged from 0.16 to 0.50. Characteristics of fat accretion observed during this study are described for each body area (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

The Henneke BCS system was developed on pre-parturient Quarter Horse mares, and has since been extrapolated to all breeds and genders without determining its suitability for these other classes of horses, such as its use in ponies (Freestone et al., 1992) and draft horses (Potter et al., 1987). Body condition scoring systems need to demonstrate three specific qualifications in order to be valid: repeatability, reproducibility, and predictability (Burkholder, 2000; Evans, 1987). Repeatability is one test of a BCS system's precision, such that one judge repeatedly assigns the same score to one animal. Reproducibility is another test of a BCS system's precision, such that one or more judges assign the same score to the same animal, and is the focus of this analysis. Lastly, predictability is a test of a BCS system's ability to

accurately reflect the fat cover of an animal. The predictability of the Henneke BCS system was determined by Henneke et al. (1983) using body fat equations developed by Westervelt et al. (1976).

The main objective of this study was to examine the usefulness of the Henneke BCS system for TB geldings as part of a companion study investigating the effects of weight gain on insulin sensitivity. Precision of the Henneke BCS system was analyzed by comparing two judge's scores to each other. Body condition scores are defined at the whole-score level, yet half scores may be used, and because of this, it was our goal to determine if the two judges were able to agree with each other within a half score or 0.5. The fact that two judges scored differently from each other more than half of the time indicates the subjective nature of the BCS scoring system. Reasons that the judges may not have been able to more consistently assign the same score to body areas include 1) the descriptions of fat accretion within each body area score may be too ambiguous too allow for objective interpretation, and 2) because the system relies on visual and physical appraisal, there is an inherent degree of user bias involved in the assigning of scores. Both factors are inevitably involved in the error associated with BCS. The purpose of a BCS system is to describe an amount of subcutaneous fat by assigning a discrete number, but inherently a human's ability to accurately quantify fat accretion is limited. This has impacts on both the ability to develop a system with explicit BCS descriptions, as well as the ability of a user to interpret BCS descriptions in an unambiguous manner.

While score disagreement could be expected at all body areas, the unequal distribution of judge disagreement suggests that the score descriptions given to those

body areas most disagreed upon are not specific enough to allow for score differentiation. It is also possible that there are extraneous factors specific to those body areas, such as TB conformation, that affected unbiased score assignment in this BCS range. That the two judges used in this study were not consistently able to assign the same score to all body areas, even with their substantial prior experience with body condition scoring suggests that between the score range of a four to seven, the score characteristics of these body areas require refinement for use in for TB geldings.

Assessing the usefulness of the Henneke BCS system for TB geldings included determining whether body area scores need adjustment in relation to each other. This was done with the goal of determining if the TB geldings on this study were being assigned the same scores to each body area during each assessment. There were several differences in scores assigned to body areas during all months of the study. Neck scores were consistently higher than withers and were also higher than loin scores during seven of the eight months. Although differences were expected, the consistency of the neck scoring being greater than withers and loin may indicate that TB's put fat down on their neck earlier during weight gain than the loin or withers. It could also indicate that this area is easier to score through allowing judges to more readily differentiate when a horse had achieved a higher score at the neck than at the other two body areas. Neck also scored greater than shoulders, ribs, or tailhead, albeit inconsistently throughout the study, but only at three time points was the neck greater than all three. Additionally at most of the monthly assessments the body areas of shoulders, ribs and tailhead did not score consistently different from

each other, suggesting that the Henneke system descriptions of these three body areas for those levels of fat are adequate. The overall results of this analysis suggest that between the BCS range of four to seven, the fat accretion characteristics of each score need a minor adjustment in order to be specific to the way that TB geldings lay down fat. This includes adjusting the neck score such that scores assigned to the neck are more likely to reflect the scores given to the other body areas. For these reasons we adjusted the neck score and developed more specific descriptions of both the anatomical locations of fat accretion and the characteristics of fat accretion scores for each body area between a BCS of four and seven. We suggest that these be tested on a separate population of TB geldings and used in the future.

The second goal of this study was to determine if dietary energy source might effect fat accretion at different body areas. The diets were designed to be isoenergetic, but differ in percent fat, ADF, NDF and NSC. Concentrates were formulated based on theoretical DE values of feed stuffs as calculated from Harris and Kronfeld (2003). The "by difference method" of determining DE values of feeds may underestimate the actual DE value of high fiber feeds due to the energy available from the fermentation products. In this study horses on the HF diet scored higher at the neck and withers than horses on the HS diet. However, while this may suggest that dietary energy source had an effect on body area fat accretion, the effect was not great enough to cause a main effect on the mean BCS. Previous studies also reported no difference in mean BCS for horses on either a high in fat and fiber diet or a high in starch and sugar diet (Hoffman et al., 2003; Williams et al., 2001). This may mean that both the withers and the neck areas of TB geldings accrue fat at a greater rate on

high fat and fiber diets than high starch and sugar diets, and may have implications for feeding strategies.

The third goal of this study was to identify one or more equations consisting of a smaller subset of body areas that would accurately predict the mean BCS instead of using all 6 body areas identified by Henneke et al. (1983). There are several benefits to using fewer body areas, including less time required, less education and practice required for inexperienced users to become proficient, and the ability to exclude body areas that are confounded by conformation. The use of prediction equations allows for the equations developed on these study horses to be extrapolated to use in other TB geldings. Additionally, weighted coefficients for each body area in each equation were reported, and allowed for determination of body areas that continually carried lesser or more weight than other body areas. Within the equations that used five body areas, the loin was weighted less, on average than all other body areas, followed by the neck and then the withers, while shoulders were consistently weighted higher than all other body areas.

The analyses used in this study helped us to determine that of the six body areas, withers and loin tended to consistently score lower than the others. These may be in part due to conformational differences between breeds, as well as within a breed (Weller et al., 2006). Many TB tend to have prominent, well defined withers, however there is a great deal of variation in the population (Anderson, 2004). It is possible that differences in wither conformation complicate the process of qualifying the amount of fat present. Secondly, the fit of equipment such as the saddle places significant pressure on the 4th vertebrae, resulting in greater vertical motion than the

un-saddled horse (Winkelmayr et al., 2006) and this may have long term effects on wither conformation. Another factor is that of fitness level, as conditioning horses to carry weight increases wither height (O'Connor et al., 2002) and this may also have a confounding effect on score. Therefore the withers score may confound mean BCS results when comparing horses to each other when horses significantly differ in their wither conformation. Interestingly, the body area with the lowest precision was the withers, further evidence for the possible confounding tendency of this body area.

The loin area in the TB breed may also be difficult to accurately score based on conformational and muscular differences. The extent to which Thoroughbreds and Quarter Horses are asked to perform, and the level of athletic difficulty may change the musculature across the back (Eto et al., 2003; Yamano et al., 2002). This in turn may change the appearance of fat deposition across the loin area, based on the muscles filling in beneath the subcutaneous fat (Graham -Thiers and Kronfeld, 2005). Gentry et al. (2002) also found that the loin area was least correlated to percent body fat gain in mares fed for weight gain. During that study, fat thickness across the loin showed little change even as mares gained condition from a BCS of six to nine.

This study shows that an accurate BCS can be derived using several combinations of fewer body areas. Although the goal of this research was to determine a best fit equation, the presence of multiple equations meeting the defined criteria made this difficult. The authors support the removal of the withers area from the BCS equation due to the possible effect of conformational differences on score assignment, as supported by the fact that it was the least agreed on body area. However, there is no clear delineation for choosing a best fit equation using the

remaining five body areas. Possible recommendations include using the shoulders, ribs and tailhead areas, as they tended to agree most often with each other as well as receiving the highest weight coefficients within the equations utilizing five body areas. One of the goals of this analysis was to identify the equation with the fewest body areas and lowest prediction interval; however, whereas many of the weighted coefficients for the four body area equations were relatively equal, very few of the three body area equations have near equal weighted coefficients. Therefore it is difficult to recommend one equation over the others. Ideally, a few selected equations, such as those including shoulders, ribs, and tailhead should be tested using a separate population of horses

IMPLICATIONS

Although horses accrue subcutaneous fat at six different areas of their body, fewer body areas may be used to accurately predict mean BCS. More specific descriptions of fat accretion characteristics have been reported and require testing to delineate their usefulness for more accurately predicting BCS in TB's.

LITERATURE CITED

- Anderson, T. M., and C. W. McIlwraith. 2004 Longitudinal development of equine conformation from weanling to age 3 years in the Thoroughbred. Equine Vet.J. 36(7): 563-570.
- Bland, J. M., and D. G. Altman. 1986. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet 1: 307-310.
- Borst, S. E., and C. F. Conover. 2005. High-fat diet induces increased tissue expression of TNF-alpha. Life Sciences 77: 2156-2165.

- Burkholder, W. J. 2000. Use of body condition scores in clinical assessment of the provision of optimal nutrition. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 217: 650-654.
- Eto, D., S. Yamano, Y. Kasashima, T. Sugiura, and T. Nasu, M. Tokuriki, and H. Miyata. 2003. Effect of controlled exercise on middle gluteal muscle fiber composition in thoroughbred foals. Equine Vet. J. 35: 676-680.
- Evans, D. G. 1978. The interpretation and analysis of subjective body condition scores. Anim. Prod. 26.
- Freestone, J. F., K.J. Wolfsheimer, R. B. Ford, G. Church, and R. Bessin. 1991. Triglyceride, insulin and cortisol responses of ponies to fasting and dexamethasone administration. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 5: 15-22.
- Gentry, L. R., D. L. Thompson, G. T. Gentry, K. R. Davis, and R. A. Godke. 2002. High versus low body condition in mares: Interactions with responses to somatotropin, GNRH analog, and dexamethasone. J. Anim. Sci. 80: 3277-3285.
- Graham-Thiers, P. M., and D. S. Kronfeld, D.S. 2005. Amino acid supplementation improves muscle mass in aged and young horses. J. Anim. Sci. 83: 2783-2788.
- Henneke, D. R., G. D. Potter, J. L. Kreider, B. F. Yeates. 1983. Relationship between condition score, physical measurements and body fat percentage in mares. Equine Vet. J. 15: 371-372.
- Heusner, G. L. 1993. Ad libitum feeding of mature horses to achieve rapid weight gain. In: Proc. 13th Equine Nutr. Physiol. Symp., Gainesville, FL

- Hoffman, R. M., R. C. Boston, D. Stefanovski, D. S. Kronfeld, and P. A. Harris.
 2003. Obesity and diet affect glucose dynamics and insulin sensitivity in thoroughbred geldings. J. Anim. Sci. 81: 2333-2342.
- O' Connor, C. I., B. D. Nielsen, H. C. Schott, H. M. Clayton. 2002 Effects of weight carrying, exercise and myo-anabolic supplements on growth and muscle. Equine Vet. J. Suppl. 34: 178-181.
- Potter, G. D., J. W. Evans, and L. W. Greene. 1987. Digestible energy requirements of Belgian and percheron horses. In: Proc. 10th Equine Nutr. Physiol. Symp., Fort Collins, CO
- Quinn, R. W. 2007. Dissertation in progress, University of Maryland, College Park.
- Weller, R., T. Pfau, S. A. May, A. M. Wilson. 2006. Variation in conformation in a cohort of national hunt racehorses. Equine Vet. J. 38: 616-621.
- West, D. B., and B. York. 1998. Dietary fat, genetic predisposition, and obesity: Lessons from animal models. Am. J. Clin. Nutr 67.
- Westervelt, R. G., J. R. Stouffer, H. F. Hintz, and H. F. Schryver. 1976. Estimating fatness in horses and ponies. J. Anim. Sci. 43: 781-785.
- Williams, C. A., D. S. Kronfeld, W. B. Staniar, and P. A. Harris. 2001. Plasma glucose and insulin responses of thoroughbred mares fed a meal high in starch and sugar or fat and fiber. J. Anim. Sci. 79: 2196-2201.
- Winkelmayr, B., C. Peham, B. Fraihwirth, T. Licka, and M. Scheidl. 2006.Evaluation of the force acting on the back of the horse with an English saddle and a side saddle at walk, trot, and canter. Equine Vet. J. Suppl. 36: 406-410.

Yamano, S., D. Eto, T. Sugiura, M. Kai, A. Hiraga, M.Tokuriki, and H. Miyata. 2002.Effect of growth and training on muscle adaptation in thoroughbred horses.Am. J. Vet. Res. 63: 1408-1412.

TABLES

Table 1. Nutrient composition of a mixed grass/alfalfa hay (Hay) and either a concentrate high in starch and sugar (HS) or high in fiber and fat (HF) fed to horses^{1, 2}

					Pooled	
Nutrient	Hay	Hay SEM	HS	HF	SEM ³	<i>P</i> -value ⁴
CP, %	14.4	1.0	10.0	10.1	0.6	0.965
ADF, %	34.2	0.4	8.0	21.7	1.3	< 0.001
NDF, %	53.9	0.1	17.0	32.8	1.3	< 0.001
NSC ⁵ , %	14.2	0.1	56.7	20.1	1.4	< 0.001
Fat, %	3.1	0.8	4.3	17.2	0.9	< 0.001
Ash, %	7.0	0.02	4.6	7.4	0.5	0.001
Ca, %	0.8	1.9	0.7	1.2	0.1	0.010
P, %	0.3	1.5	0.3	0.3	0.03	0.041
DE, Mcal/kg	1.0	0.02	3.6	2.9	0.03	< 0.001
DE, Mcal/kg ⁶			3.6	3.5		

¹ DM basis as analyzed by Dairy One (Ithaca, NY)

 2 n = 15 for Hay; n = 9 for HS; n = 6 for HF

³ SEM pooled for HS and HF concentrates

⁴ Significance of differences between HS and HF concentrates

⁵ Non-structural carbohydrates

⁶ Theoretical DE value calculated based on the feed formulation, as proposed by

Harris and Kronfeld (2003)

Table 2. Digestible energy (DE) intakes of horses fed to gain weight over eight months on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a concentrate high in starch and sugar

			<i>P</i> -		
Month	HS $(n=8)^{3}$	HF (n=6)	value		
	Mcal/d				
Aug	18.0 ± 0.5	18.2 ± 0.5	0.735		
Sep	35.8 ± 0.5	34.8 ± 0.5	0.946		
Oct	33.4 ± 1.0	32.1 ± 1.1	0.414		
Nov	35.1 ± 1.7	32.7 ± 1.8	0.349		
Dec	39.2 ± 2.0	37.5 ± 2.2	0.576		
Jan	33.0 ± 1.6	28.3 ± 1.7	0.066		
Feb	34.6 ± 1.9	31.5 ± 2.0	0.286		
Mar	36.5 ± 2.7	32.7 ± 2.9	0.347		
Apr	36.0 ± 2.1	30.5 ± 2.2	0.091		

(HS) or high in fat and fiber (HF)^{1,2}

¹ DE calculated based on formulations proposed by Harris and Kronfeld (2003)

² DE intakes are represented as means \pm SEM

³ One horse removed from analysis due to an inability to collect accurate refusal data

	Body			P -
Month	Area	Precision ²	SE	value
Aug	Neck	-0.18	0.13	0.156
	Withers	0.00	0.13	1.000
	Shoulders	-0.37	0.13	0.003
	Ribs	-0.26	0.13	0.039
	Loin	-0.17	0.13	0.191
	Tailhead	-0.13	0.13	0.326
Sep	Neck	0.08	0.13	0.513
	Withers	0.38	0.13	0.003
	Shoulders	0.12	0.13	0.326
	Ribs	0.18	0.13	0.156
	Loin	0.06	0.13	0.663
	Tailhead	0.04	0.13	0.743
Oct	Neck	0.21	0.13	0.102
	Withers	0.85	0.13	< 0.001
	Shoulders	0.47	0.13	< 0.001
	Ribs	0.57	0.13	< 0.001
	Loin	0.31	0.13	0.017
	Tailhead	0.38	0.13	0.003
Nov	Neck	-0.47	0.13	< 0.001
	Withers	0.28	0.13	0.029
	Shoulders	-0.07	0.13	0.585
	Ribs	-0.08	0.13	0.513
	Loin	0.06	0.13	0.663
	Tailhead	-0.01	0.13	0.913

Table 3. Precision of body condition scores (BCS) assigned to six body areas by two

judges over the 8 mo study ¹

¹ Scores assigned using the method of Henneke et al. (1983)

² Precision calculated as score of Judge 1 – score of Judge 2

	Body			P -
Month	Area	Precision ²	SE	value
Dec	Neck	0.13	0.13	0.039
	Withers	0.24	0.13	0.064
	Shoulders	0.07	0.13	0.585
	Ribs	0.14	0.13	0.275
	Loin	0.13	0.13	0.326
	Tailhead	0.06	0.13	0.663
Jan	Neck	-0.29	0.13	0.022
	Withers	0.56	0.13	< 0.001
	Shoulders	0.17	0.13	0.191
	Ribs	-0.19	0.13	0.127
	Loin	0.15	0.13	0.230
	Tailhead	0.00	0.13	1.000
Feb	Neck	-0.01	0.13	0.913
	Withers	0.56	0.13	0.050
	Shoulders	0.06	0.13	0.662
	Ribs	0.18	0.13	0.156
	Loin	0.32	0.13	0.012
	Tailhead	0.17	0.13	0.191
Mar	Neck	-0.38	0.13	0.003
	Withers	-0.32	0.13	0.012
	Shoulders	-0.31	0.13	0.017
	Ribs	-0.81	0.13	< 0.001
	Loin	-0.31	0.13	0.017
	Tailhead	-0.51	0.13	< 0.001
Apr	Neck	-0.49	0.13	< 0.001
	Withers	-0.07	0.13	0.585
	Shoulders	-0.43	0.13	< 0.001
	Ribs	-0.57	0.13	< 0.001
	Loin	0.54	0.13	< 0.001
	Tailhead	-0.18	0.13	0.156

Table 3 continued. Precision of body condition scores (BCS) assigned to six body

areas by two judges over the 8 mo study ¹

¹ Scores assigned using the method of Henneke et al. (1983)

² Precision calculated as score of Judge 1 – score of Judge 2

Body		95% Prediction	Prediction
Areas	Weighted Equations	Interval	r ²
NWRLT	0.20*N + 0.21*W + 0.23*R + 0.18*L + 0.18*T	0.16	0.99
NWSLT	0.17*N + 0.19*W 0.24*S + 0.21*L + 0.19*T	0.17	0.99
NWSRL	0.20*N + 0.17*W + 0.19*S + 0.21*R + 0.23*L	0.19	0.98
NSRLT	0.21*N + 0.25*S + 0.21*R + 0.16*L + 0.17*T	0.23	0.98
NWSRT	0.15*N + 0.17*W + 0.18*S + 0.25*R + 0.26*T	0.24	0.98
WSRLT	0.23*W + 0.24*S + 0.16*R + 0.14*L + 0.22*T	0.30	0.97
NWRL	0.24*N + 0.22*W + 0.29*R + 0.25*L	0.27	0.98
NWRT	0.18*N + 0.21*W + 0.33*R + 0.28*T	0.29	0.95
NWSL	0.20*N + 0.20W + 0.30*S + 0.30*L	0.30	0.97
NSRL	0.24*N + 0.28*S + 0.25*R + 0.23*L	0.30	0.97
NWLT	0.22*N + 0.29*W + 0.25*L + 0.24*T	0.30	0.97
NSLT	0.21*N + 0.37*S + 0.21*L + 0.21*T	0.31	0.97
NSRT	0.19*N + 0.27*S + 0.28*R + 0.26*T	0.31	0.97
WSLT	.025*W + 0.31*S + 0.19*L + 0.25*T	0.32	0.97
WSRT	0.21*W + 0.25*S + 0.24*R + 0.30*T	0.32	0.97
NRLT	0.28*N + 0.35*R + 0.17*L + 0.20*T	0.35	0.97
WRLT	0.31*W + 0.27*R + 0.15*L + 0.27*T	0.36	0.97
NWST	0.14*N + 0.19*W + 0.32*S + 0.35*T	0.36	0.97
WSRL	0.24*W + 0.30*S + 0.22*R + 0.24*L	0.40	0.97
SRLT	0.40*S + 0.22*R + 0.13*L + 0.25*T	0.41	0.96
NWSR	0.21*N + 0.15*W + 0.26*S + 0.38*R	0.42	0.96
NSL	0.26*N + 0.43*S + 0.31*L	0.39	0.97
WRT	0.30*W + 0.35*R + 0.35*T	0.40	0.97
WST	0.24*W + 0.38*S + 0.38*T	0.41	0.97
NRL	0.34*N + 0.40*R + 0.26*L	0.41	0.96
NRT	0.27*N + 0.43*R + 0.30*T	0.42	0.96
SRT	0.40*S + 0.28*R + 0.32*T	0.43	0.96
NWL	0.28*N + 0.33*W + 0.39*L	0.43	0.96
NST	0.19*N + 0.45*S + 0.36*T	0.45	0.96
NSR	0.25*N+0.33*S+0.42*R	0.46	0.96
WSL	0.28*W + 0.41*S + 0.31*L	0.46	0.96

 Table 4. Weighted body condition score prediction equations, 95% prediction

intervals, and prediction r² for all possible combinations of body areas¹

¹Where N=neck, W=withers, S=shoulders, R=ribs, L=loin, and T=tailhead

		95%	
Body		Prediction	Prediction
Areas	Weighted Equations	Interval	r ²
NWR	0.26*N + 0.23*W + 0.51*R	0.48	0.96
WLT	0.41*W + 0.24*L + 0.35*T	0.48	0.96
SLT	0.52*S + 0.18*L + 0.30*T	0.48	0.86
NWT	0.20*N + 0.34*W + 0.46*T	0.48	0.85
WRL	0.36* W + 0.37*R + 0.27*L	0.49	0.96
WSR	0.23*W + 0.37*S + 0.40*R	0.50	0.96
SRL	0.48*S + 0.29*R + 0.23*L	0.52	0.84
NLT	0.37*N + 0.31*L + 0.32*T	0.55	0.81
RLT	0.50*R + 0.12*L + 0.38*T	0.61	0.76
NWS	0.23*N + 0.22*W + 0.55*S	0.62	0.76
ST	0.58*S + 0.42*T	0.52	0.83
WT	0.42*W + 0.58*T	0.56	0.80
NR	0.38*N+0.62*R	0.57	0.80
SR	0.54*S + 0.46*R	0.59	0.78
SL	0.68*S + 0.32*L	0.60	0.77
RT	0.55*R + 0.45*T	0.60	0.77
WR	0.38*W + 0.62*R	0.61	0.77
WL	0.53*W + 0.47*L	0.67	0.72
NL	0.49*N+0.51*L	0.67	0.72
WS	0.30*W + 0.70*S	0.68	0.71
NS	0.29*N + 0.71*S	0.69	0.71
NT	0.39*N + 0.61*T	0.72	0.67
RL	0.71*R + 0.29*L	0.77	0.63
NW	0.44*N + 0.56*W	0.90	0.50
LT	0.34*L + 0.66*T	1.02	0.49
S	S	0.79	0.61
R	R	0.82	0.57
W	W	0.89	0.50
L	L	0.99	0.38
Ν	Ν	1.27	0.00
Т	Т	1.35	-0.14

Table 4 continued. Weighted body condition score prediction equations, 95% prediction intervals, and prediction r^2 for all possible combinations of body areas

¹Where N=neck, W=withers, S=shoulders, R=ribs, L=loin, and T=tailhead
			Chara	acteristics ²		
BCS	Neck Area	Wither Area	Shoulder Area	Rib Area	Loin Area	Tailhead Area
Anatomical Description ³	From the poll to the 3rd vertebrae	From the top of the shoulder blade to the top of the spinous processes of the 3rd, 4th, and 5th vortebrase	Between scapula / triceps muscle and barrel	Includes 6th through 12th ribs	Lumbar vertebrae	Caudal sacral vertebrae to tuber ischii
4	Small amount of fat deposited on crest of neck with slight depression in front of withers, otherwise flat between poll and withers.	Wither prominence depends on conformation. Shape of spinous processes visible. Fat begins to accumulate around transverse processes.	Point of shoulder easily identified. Top of scapular spine may be visible. Some fat felt but area is concave in appearance.	Central ribs visible (ribs 6-12) with others easily felt.	Some filling around sides but tops of spinous processes easily visible.	Tailhead prominence depends on conformation. Spinous processes of sacral vertebrae visible with little fat fill on sides. When viewed from side, some fat accumulation but concave in appearance.
Ś	Even deposition of fat along crest of neck, creating a smooth nearly flat line between the poll and the withers.	Fat accumulating from top of shoulder blade to point of withers lending a nearly flat appearance.	Fat fill in shoulder area creates smooth transition from shoulder blade to barrel though slightly concave. Can no longer identify scapular ridge.	Ribs cannot be visually distinguished, but can be easily felt.	Fat fill along spinous processes makes loin area level.	Fat filled along either side of tailhead, spinous processes of sacral vertebrae no longer visible. Fat along tailhead results in flat appearance when viewed from side.

Table 5. Characteristics of individual body condition scores¹

²Adapted from those of Henneke et al. (1983) ²Descriptions from Henneke et al. (1983) in italics ³Adapted from Henneke et al. (1983)

	Tailhead Area	Fat fill slightly convex in appearance.	Fat fill above level of bony processes of tailhead.
	Loin Area	Fat beginning to accumulate above spinous processes creating a slight depression	Fat accumulated above spinous processes creating an obvious depression on the loin area.
cteristics ²	Rib Area	Fat laid down in between ribs making them difficult to distinguish from each other. Can be felt with direct pressure.	Noticeable filling between and on top of ribs. Individual ribs can be felt but difficult, even with direct pressure.
Chara	Shoulder Area	Fat fill appears convex and increasing in size ventrally.	Fat fill causes obvious convexity, and has increases in size ventrally to encompass the area just behind the point of the elbow.
	Wither Area	Fat fill results in flat appearance of withers.	Fat fill convex in appearance.
	Neck Area	Fat cover on crest of the neck slightly increases height of neck (e.g. a "cresty" neck beginning to develop).	Obvious crest with fat fill increasing the width of neck. Fat fill along crest filled in cranially and caudally. Fat laid down in front of shoulder, at point where neck and body meet.
	BCS	9	

Table 5 continued. Characteristics of individual body condition scores¹

¹Adapted from those of Henneke et al. (1983) ² Descriptions from Henneke et al. (1983) in italics ³ Adapted from Henneke et al. (1983)

FIGURES



Figure 1. Body condition scores (BCS) and body weight (BW) of horses fed for weight gain on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a concentrate high in starch and sugar or high in fat and fiber. Monthly means are averaged across diets and represented as mean \pm SE. ^{a,b,c,d, e, f, g} Means with unlike superscripts within either BCS or BW differ (P < 0.05).



Figure 2. Differences in body area body condition score (BCS) for horses fed mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a concentrate high in starch and sugar (HS) or high in fat and fiber (HF). Data averaged for two judges and represented as the mean \pm SE. ^{a,b,c,d,e} Means with unlike superscripts differ (P < 0.05). *Dietary groups differ (P < 0.05). † Dietary groups differ (P < 0.1).



Figure 3. Differences in body area body condition score (BCS) at each month. Data averaged for two judges and represented as mean \pm SE. ^{a,b,c,d} Means with unlike superscripts differ (P < 0.05).

Chapter 4: Manuscript II

Effects of diet, weight gain, and exercise on serum TNF-α concentration in Thoroughbred geldings¹

J. K. Suagee, A. O. Burk, R. W. Quinn, T. G. Hartsock, and L. W. Douglass

University of Maryland, College Park, MD, 20740

¹ Funded in part by the Maryland Agricultural Experiment Grant program. The authors wish to thank the staff of the Central Maryland Research and Education Center and the graduate and undergraduate students for their assistance on this study. We also thank Dr. Tom Porter for his help with assay validation.

ABSTRACT

Obesity in horses is associated with an increased risk for the development of metabolic disorders such as insulin resistance, hyperlipemia, and laminitis. As yet there is no defined upper "safe" limit of adiposity; however in other species increasing adiposity has been associated with an increased level of systemic inflammation, as indicated by circulating concentrations of tumor necrosis factor- α . This increase in inflammation may preclude the development of the metabolic diseases of obesity seen in humans. The objective of this study was to assess whether the level of fatness, type of diet, and/or a cessation of exercise would affect the inflammatory state of the horse as measured by serum TNF concentrations. Fifteen mature Thoroughbred (TB) geldings with an average initial body condition score (BCS) of 4.4 were fed for weight gain over eight months on a diet of hay plus a concentrate that was either high in starch and sugar (HS) or high in fat and fiber (HF). Horses were assessed monthly for BCS and blood samples were taken for

determination of serum TNF. For two weeks following the weight gain period of the study, normal daily exercise of 1.5 m/s for 35 min twice daily was restricted. There was no effect of diet on serum TNF concentrations. Horses at a BCS of four had higher TNF concentrations than horses at a BCS of seven; however, TNF was not different in horses at a BCS of five, six, or seven. There was a trend for an increase of TNF (P = 0.075) when horses were not exercised. Horses at a BCS less than five are at a higher risk for inflammation than those between a five and seven.

Keywords: diet, condition, fat, horse, TNF, weight gain

INTRODUCTION

Obesity is the result of long term positive caloric balance and in horses is often the result of a lack of knowledge on the owners' part about proper feed types and amounts, and exercise management (Johnson, 2002). As yet, there is no defined upper "safe" limit of adiposity in horses; however it is imperative that this be determined because obese animals are at a greater risk for the development of life threatening metabolic conditions such as laminitis (Jeffcott et al., 1986; Fontaine et al., 2001) and hyperlipemia (Jeffcott et al., 1985; Hughes, 2004). Adiposity has been positively correlated with increasing systemic concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF in humans (Hotamisligil et al., 1995) and horses (Vick et al., 2007) which are produced by the accumulating adipose tissue. In humans, an increase in TNF has been associated with low grade inflammation (Sethi et al., 1999) that precludes development of the metabolic diseases of obesity, such as diabetes type II and dyslipidemia (Permana et al., 2006; Skurk et al., 2004). Since the obese equine

also appears to be at risk for metabolic conditions (Johnson et al., 2002; Kronfeld et al., 2006; Treiber et al., 2006), a similar mechanism of TNF action may exist.

Diet and exercise may also affect the relationship between obesity and TNF secretion from adipose tissue. The HF diet was supplemented with corn oil, a feed component that is commonly added to horse feeds to aid in weight gain or to increase the caloric density of feeds for equine athletes. Corn oil has a high ratio of n-6: n-3 fatty acids, which has been found to increase inflammation in obese rats (Morin et al, 1997; Alexander et al., 2004). Alternatively, regular exercise decreased the risk of metabolic diseases in obese humans (Ziccardi et al., 2006) and horses (28-34% body fat, Powell et al., 2002), but it was not known whether it occurred as a result of a change in inflammatory status or another mechanism.

The objectives of this study were to assess levels of inflammation in Thoroughbred geldings as they gained weight and when fed diets differing in energy source. Another objective of this study was to evaluate whether a short term restriction in daily exercise would influence inflammatory state in fleshy horses.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted over a period of 10 months, from July 2005 to May 2006 at the University of Maryland's Equine Research Unit, in Ellicott City, MD and was approved by the University of Maryland's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. It was conducted in accordance with a companion study investigating the effect of diet and weight gain on insulin sensitivity (Quinn, 2007).

Horses

Fifteen mature Thoroughbred geldings (initial BW range 466 to 596 kg, initial BCS range 3.8 to 5.1; initial age range 5 to 15 y) were used in this study. All horses received routine veterinary health care including vaccinations- Eastern, Western, and Venezuelan encephalitis, Rhinopneumonitis, Influenza, Tetanus (Prestige V + VEE, Intervet, Millsboro, DE) Potomac horse fever and West Nile (Potomac Guard and West Nile Innovator, Fort Dodge Animal Health, Overland Park, KS), dental care, and a broad spectrum dewormer (Zimecterin Gold Ivermectin/Praziquantel, Merial, Duluth, GA) before the start of the study and throughout the study as needed. Horses were housed in individual (3.6 m^2) box stalls with rubber mats and wood pellet litter (Woody Pet Products, Surrey, BC, Canada). Horses were weighed on a livestock platform scale (Central Carolina Scale, Sanford, NC) prior to the start of the study, and then weekly thereafter. Horses were housed in the barn for three weeks prior to the start of the study to allow for acclimation the experimental conditions.

Diets

During the three week acclimation period, horses received mixed grass/alfalfa hay and a commercially available concentrate (Legends 10, Southern States Cooperative, Richmond, VA) fed to meet their daily DE requirement for maintenance (NRC, 1989). After the acclimation period horses were randomly assigned to one of two experimental concentrates designed to be isonitrogenous and isoenergetic, but differing in energy source, either high in starch and sugar (HS; n = 9) or fiber and fat (HF; n = 6) (Table 1). Horses were transitioned onto the treatment feeds over a period of 14 d. Horses were fed a mixed grass/legume hay and either the HS or HF

concentrate at a ratio of 60% DE from hay and 40% DE from concentrate. Hay was fed in a wooden box mounted on the floor in the corner and grain was fed from canvas feed bags (Country Supply, Louisiana, MO). Total daily intake of hay and concentrate was split into two meals fed at 0800 and 1900. Hay was offered first, with concentrate offered immediately following. Refusals of concentrate were collected and weighed after each feeding. Refusals of hay were collected and weighed on a daily basis, before the 0800 feeding. Intake of hay and concentrate was recorded daily.

Hay samples were obtained by random core sampling from no less than 25% of the hay used in the study (n = 14). Concentrate samples were obtained by random grab sampling (n = 8) on a monthly basis. Hay and concentrate were submitted for nutrient analysis to a commercial laboratory (Table 1) (Dairy One, Ithaca, NY). Access to fresh clean water and salt blocks containing only sodium chloride were available at all times.

Weight Gain

Horses were fed at maintenance for four weeks to allow for acclimation to the treatment diets, and then feeds were increased to weight gain intake levels over a period of one week. Horses were fed for a targeted weight gain of 23 kg per three weeks, which was previously shown to result in a gain of one BCS score (Heusner, 1993). In order to achieve the targeted weight gain, hay and concentrate was fed to provide each horse with an additional 20 Mcal DE above their daily DE requirement for maintenance. Horses were fed for weight gain over a period of eight months, August, 2005 to April, 2006. Five months after the start of the study, an additional

seven Mcal DE was offered daily to each horse via concentrate at 1400 h in order to encourage an increase in ADG.

Exercise

Horses were exercised at a walk (1.5m/s) for 35 min twice daily on a six horse automated equine exerciser (Priefert, Mt. Pleasant, TX). Horses were permanently assigned to one of three exercise groups, which were exercised in a random order, between 0900-1100 and 1630-1830. A two week minimal exercise (MinEx) period occurred following the weight gain period of the study.

Data Collection

Horses were assessed for BCS (Henneke et al., 1983) at the end of the acclimation period, at the start of weight gain, and monthly thereafter. Judges were selected based on knowledge of condition scoring and conducted their surveys independently of each other. Body area condition scores as well as an overall score were determined for each horse at each time period.

Blood samples were collected from each horse when they achieved a gain of one BCS, and before and after the minimal exercise period. A total of 10ml blood was collected via jugular venipuncture into 10 ml uncoated Vacutainer tubes (Vacutainer, Becton Dickenson, Franklin Lakes, NJ), between 0700 and 0800, on days corresponding to BCS assessments. Blood samples were allowed to clot for two hours and were then centrifuged at 15*g for 15 min at 4°C. Serum was then divided into 1 ml aliquots and frozen at -20°C until further analysis.

Sample Analysis

Serum samples were analyzed for TNF concentrations using an enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (Equine TNF α Screening Set, Pierce, Rockford, IL) consisting of recombinant equine TNF, coating antibody, detection antibody, streptavidin HRP, substrate solution (3, 3', 5, 5'- tetramethyl benzidine) and stop solution (0.18 M sulfuric acid). Nunc-Immuno 96 MicroWell flat bottom plates coated with Maxisorb (Nalge Nunc International, Rochester, NY) were coated with 100 uL of 1.0 ug/ml coating antibody prepared in 0.2 M sodium carbonate-bicarbonate buffer (BupH Carbonate/Bicarbonate Buffer, Pierce, Rockford, IL) and allowed to incubate for 18 hr. After incubation, plates were blocked with a blocking buffer (BB) consisting of 4% BSA (Albumin, Bovine Serum, Fraction V, RIA and ELISA grade, Calbiochem, La Jolla, CA), and 5% sucrose (Sucrose, Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ), in PBS solution (BupH Modified Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline Packs, Pierce, Rockford, IL), for 1 hr. After blocking, the BB was aspirated and wells were rinsed 3 times with 300 uL each of a wash buffer (WB) consisting of 0.05% Tween 20 (Tween® 20 Enzyme Grade, Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ) in PBS. After washing, 100 uL of sample or standard was added and incubated for one hr. Then the wash step was repeated and 100 uL of 0.5 ug/ml detection antibody prepared in a reagent Diluents (RD) consisting of 4% BSA in PBS was added. Detection antibody was incubated for 1 hr and then the wash step repeated a third time. Next, 100 uL of streptavidin HRP (diluted 1:400 in RD), was added and incubated for 30 minutes. The wash step was repeated a fourth time and 100 uL of substrate solution was added and incubated for 20 minutes. At this point 100 uL of stop solution was added and

the optical density (OD) values of each well were read in a plate reader (Tecan Sunrise, Phenix Research Products, Hayward, CA) at 450 and 550 nm. The 550 nm reading was used as a correction factor and subtracted from the 450 nm reading for a final value. Serum samples were assayed in duplicate at a 1:4 dilution in RD, and all samples with CV's greater than 10% were re-assayed.

Prior to running samples, the range of the standard curve, parallelism, and recovery were determined using pooled serum sample standards. Sample standards consisted of pooled serum collected from the geldings at three BCS ranges 1) 3.5 to 4.5, 2) 5 to 6, and 3) 6.5 to 7.5. The standard curve was prepared from recombinant equine TNF in RD at concentrations of 1000, 500, 250, 125, 62.5, 31.25, 15.68, 7.81, 3.91, 1.95, and 0.98 pg/ml, and assayed in triplicate. The point at which the optical density (OD) values no longer declined with decreasing concentration was determined to be the limit of quantitation, and the lowest point on the standard curve for all future assays.

One ml of each pooled sample was diluted 1:2, 1:4, 1:8, 1:16, and 1:32 in RD. All serum samples were vortexed 30s before diluting. Samples were assayed neat, and at the above dilutions, in triplicate. Parallelism was determined as the range of dilutions where the slopes of the pooled standards paralleled that of the standard curve. Regions determined to be parallel were used to determine recovery. Recovery was determined by diluting serum standards 1:4 in RD and then spiking with 1000 pg/ml recombinant equine TNF. Spiked samples were diluted parallel to the entire range of the standard curve. In addition, a non-spiked sample was assayed at a 1:4 dilution in order to determine the endogenous TNF of the serum standard. Each

sample was vortexed 30 s before diluting. Recovery was determined as measured/predicted x 100%, where measured was the concentration determined from the OD value and predicted was the calculated concentration. To assess effects of incubation time on TNF serum concentrations, samples from three horses were incubated for 15 m, 30 m, one hour and two hours, prior to centrifugation and storage of serum.

The range of the standard curve was determined to be from 7.8 to 1000 pg/ml. Parallelism was confirmed between neat and the 1:4 dilutions, and recovery of spiked 1:4 dilutions averaged 104%. Results of spiking and recovery assay are represented in Table 3. There was no difference in serum concentrations of TNF between samples that were incubated 15 m, 30 m, one hour, or two hours prior to centrifugation and storage of serum (data not shown). Because there were no differences, the two hour incubation time was chosen.

Statistical Analysis

Body condition score data were analyzed by ANOVA with repeated measures using the mixed models procedure of SAS (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC), to determine the effects of time and diet on BCS. Body weight data were analyzed by ANOVA with repeated measures, to determine the effects of time and diet on BW gain. Digestible energy intakes between treatment groups within each month were analyzed by ANOVA. Data for serum TNF was non-normal skewed right, and was therefore log₁₀ transformed. The effects of diet and BCS on serum TNF were determined by repeated measures ANOVA. Data were blocked by plate number.

Effects of incubation time on serum TNF concentrations were determined by ANOVA with repeated measures. For all analyses, significance was set at $P \le 0.05$.

RESULTS

Average monthly digestible energy (DE) intakes were similar between dietary groups and shown in Table 2. There was no effect of diet on either BW or BCS therefore means were combined and averaged across diets (Figure 1). Body weight at the initiation of and at the end of weight gain was 519 ± 12 kg and 608 ± 12 kg, respectively. Body condition score at the initiation of and at the end of weight gain was 4.3 ± 0.1 and 6.9 ± 0.1 , respectively. Removing exercise from the horse's daily routine did not result in a change in BW or BCS (Figure 1).

There was no main effect of diet on serum TNF concentrations, therefore means were combined and averaged across diets (Figure 2). The mean TNF concentration for all horses over the entire study was 388.5 pg/mL (range 16.1 – 1871.3 pg/mL). There was a trend (P = 0.099) for the effect of BCS on serum TNF (Figure 2). There was also a trend (P = 0.075) for an increase in TNF concentrations after two weeks of minimal exercise (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

The association between weight gain and metabolic disorders was first identified in humans over 80 years ago (Carswell, 1923). One of the theories relating obesity with the development of metabolic disturbances is that adipose tissue is a metabolically active tissue that produces and secretes several hormones and inflammatory proteins (Eckel, 2005; Despres, 2003; Duncan, 2001; Pickup, 2004). In humans, the onset of obesity leads to increased release of the inflammatory proteins which in turn leads to the development of a low-grade systemic inflammation. This systemic inflammation precludes the development of some metabolic diseases, such as insulin resistance and dyslipidemia (Permana et al., 2006; Skurk et al., 2004), making an increase in inflammation a predictor for the development of these metabolic disorders. Similarly, metabolic disorders in horses and ponies have also been associated with adiposity (Kronfeld, 2006; Treiber et al., 2006), and recent research has come to focus on the role of inflammation in the development of these equine diseases (Vick et al., 2007).

Accumulation of adipose tissue in obesity parallels an increased infiltration of macrophages (Weisberg et al., 2003; Wellen, 2003; Xu et al., 2003). These macrophages are an important source of inflammatory protein production in adipose tissue through molecular signaling between adipocytes and macrophages (Weisberg et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2003). Adipocytes produce two chemokines that affect macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue: macrophage migration inhibitory factor and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (Do et al., 2006). The latter is involved with attracting and retaining macrophages in the adipose tissue and is significantly correlated to BMI, waist circumference, and other inflammatory markers in humans (Kim et al., 2006).

Inflammation is indirectly measured by determining levels of different markers such as the pro-inflammatory cytokines and acute phase proteins (Salmenniemi et al., 2004; Schmidt et al., 1999). The normal functions of the proinflammatory cytokines are to initiate fever and increase energy availability through disruption of normal glucose and lipid metabolism during the sickness response

(Delano and Moldawer, 2006; Kawasaki et al., 1989; Saigusa, 1990). In the case of sickness, the disruption of lipid and glucose metabolism is beneficial to fuel the increased metabolic rate and decreased food intake (Plata-Salaman, 1998). Recovery from the infection restores normal metabolism (Tracey et al., 1988). In the case of obesity, the continual upregulation of inflammation results in long term disrupted metabolism and the development of the metabolic diseases (Hardardottir et al., 1994; Hotamisligil, 1999).

The pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF has been used as a marker of inflammation and correlates directly with fat mass in humans (Dandonna et al., 1998; Samuelsson et al., 2003; and Ziccardi et al., 2002) and rodents (Hotamisligil et al., 1993). Remarkably, when injected intravenously into human subjects, TNF has initiated the development of insulin resistance (Krogh-Madsen et al., 2006; Plomgard et al., 2005). Injection of TNF has also been associated with hypertriglyceridemia in dairy cows (Kushibiki et al., 2002). We chose to study TNF as a marker of inflammation in horses because it has been extensively studied in other species and has not only been shown to increase with increasing adiposity but also to induce metabolic disruptions in those species.

The first objective of this study was to assess inflammation in Thoroughbred geldings as they were fed for weight gain, as determined by serum concentrations of TNF. We found that TNF concentrations did not increase when horses gained weight from BCS four to seven, in contrast to Vick et al. (2007). Vick et al. (2007) performed a single assessment of mixed light breed mares between a BCS four to nine that were maintained on pasture, whereas the geldings in this study were

between a BCS of four to seven and were maintained in stalls. Rather, a higher TNF concentration was found when horses were at a lower BCS of four in our study. The higher TNF concentrations seen in the horses of BCS four could have been due to a negative energy balance, as increased concentrations of TNF have been shown to increase in human subjects carrying less than 80% of their ideal body weight (Allende et al., 1998). The increased cytokine production in low body condition could be a metabolic adaptation to increase energy stores. Tumor necrosis factor- α has catabolic effects on energy stores and may be increased in animals of low body condition in order to increase energy availability (Tracey et al., 1987). The fact that there was no increase in TNF concentrations between a BCS of five, six, and seven may indicate that horses within this BCS range are at a healthy level of adiposity.

The levels of TNF reported in this study were lower than those reported by Vick et al. (2007). That study reported values ranging from 156 – 5000 pg/mL, whereas our concentrations were between 16.1 – 1833.8 pg/mL. The higher TNF observed by Vick et al. (2007) is likely due to the higher BCS of the horses on their study, which included horses from a BCS four to nine. In comparison, concentrations of TNF have been reported in the range of 3-18 pg/mL in humans (Dandona et al., 1998; Samuelsson et al., 2004; Ziccardi et al., 2002), 150- 220 pg/mL in sheep (Daniel et al., 2003), and an average of 125 pg/mL in healthy steers (Kahl and Elsasser, 2006). Normal levels of circulating levels of TNF in healthy animals may be species specific with concentrations in horses being higher than those found in other species. Whether horses truly have a higher degree of inflammation in association with those higher TNF concentrations is uncertain.

The second goal of this study was to determine the dietary effects of feeding a diet high in starch and sugar vs. a diet high in fat and fiber on inflammation. High fat diets have previously been shown to induce an inflammatory state in rodents (De Souza et al., 2005). This may be due to the increased availability of free fatty acids when consuming a high fat diet, as free fatty acids may induce TNF release from both adipocytes and macrophages (Suganami et al., 2005; 2007). One possible reason for not seeing a dietary effect is that the 60:40 ratio of hay to grain reduced the overall percent fat in the diet (3.6% on the HS diet and 8.7% on the HF diet) to a level lower than that needed to effect a significant change in inflammation.

The third goal of this study was to determine if the restriction of exercise would have an effect on inflammation in overweight horses, because horses that are diagnosed with metabolic disorders are often prescribed stall rest or are otherwise unable to exercise due to severe pain (Pollit, 1999). The trend for increased TNF following exercise restriction seen in this study suggests that exercise may have a modulating effect on inflammation. In humans, exercise often reduces inflammation (Kondo et al., 2005; Niessner et al., 2006) and this effect is possibly mediated through the effect of exercise increasing oxygen uptake. However, the relationship between inflammation and oxidative status is not completely known. In this study, the lack of a significant effect may due to the length of the exercise restriction being too short to have a significant influence on inflammatory status.

Although the inter-assay CV for the TNF assay was at 5.5%, the intra-assay CV was higher than desired at 18.3%. The large between-assay variability may be due to inconsistencies with the assay, such as antibody stability, slight differences in

concentrations of diluted antibodies, recombinant TNF, or streptavidin HRP, as well as differences in the specificity of recombinant TNF between different vials of recombinant TNF. A fresh standard of recombinant TNF was prepared for each plate unless plates were run on the same day, therefore standard degradation should not have been a source of variability, although there could have been slight differences between vials of recombinant TNF. Secondly, preparations of carbonate-bicarbonate and RD were made up in 100 mL aliquots; therefore slight differences in concentrations may also have played a role, although buffers and reagents were made using the same balance, pipettes, and graduated cylinders to ensure as little variation as possible. In future experiments buffers should be made up in a larger quantity or in the total volume needed to complete the entire experiment to ensure the least buffer variability. Another possible source of variability is the differences in serum clotting time between the collection of the first and last serum samples. Although samples were taken in a random order each collection time and centrifuged within two hours, there may have been differences in serum clot time between months depending on the number of staff available to collect blood samples. The effect of serum clotting time on TNF concentrations was evaluated using only three horses, and should be repeated on a different population of horses to ensure repeatability. Another possible weakness of the assay is evidenced from the 104% average recovery, suggesting that there may be factors in the serum that the antibodies are measuring besides TNF.

IMPLICATIONS

Concentrations of TNF have been reported for clinically healthy TB geldings at a BCS between four and seven, which are useful to be used as reference ranges for

future studies. Horses at a BCS of four and horses with minimal exercise may be at a higher risk of inflammation, and these relationships should be taken into consideration for future research. Horses consuming a total dietary fat up to %8 are not at risk for increased inflammation.

LITERATURE CITED

- Alexander, A. A., G. H. Diaz, M. L. Barcelata, O. A. Guerrero, and R. M. O. Ros. 2004. Effects of fish oil on hypertension, plasma lipids, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in rats with sucrose-induced metabolic syndrome. J. Nutr. Biochem. 15: 350-357.
- Allende, L. M., A. Correll, J. Mananares, D. Madruga, A. Marcos, and A. Madrono et al.1998. Immunodeficiency associated with anorexia nervosa is secondary and improves after refeeding. Immunology. 94(4): 543-551.
- Dandona, P., R. Weinstock, K. Thusu, E. Abdel-Rahman, A. Aljada, and T. Wadden. 1998. Tumor necrosis factor- alpha in sera of obese patients: Fall with weight loss. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 83: 2907-2911.
- Daniel, J. A., T. H. Elsasser, C. D. Morrison, D. H. Keisler, B. K. Whitlock, B.
 Steele, D. Pugh, and J. L. Sartin. 2003. Leptin, tumor necrosis factor- alpha (tnf), and cd14 in ovine tissue and changes in circulating tnf in lean and fat sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 81: 2590-2599.
- Delano, M. J., and L. L. Moldawer. 2006. The origins of cachexia in acute and chronic inflammatory diseases. Nutr. Clin. Pract. 21(1): 68-81.
- De Souza, C. T., E. P. Araujo, S. Bordin, R, Ashimine, R. L., Zollner, A. C. Boschero, M. J. A. Saad, L. A. Velloso. 2005. Consumption of a fat-rich diet

activates a pro-inflammatory response and induces insulin resistance in the hypothalamus. Endocrinology. 146(10): 1492-4199.

- Despres, J. -P. 2003. Inflammation and cardiovascular disease: is abdominal obesity the missing link? Int. J. Obesity. 27: 522-524.
- Do, M.-S., H.-S. Jeong, B.-H. Choi, L. Hunter, S. Langley, L. Pazmany, and P. Trayhurn. 2006. Inflammatory gene expression patterns revealed by DNA microarray analysis in TNF-alpha-treated human adipocytes. Yonsei Med. J. 47: 729-736.
- Duncan, B. B., and M. I. Schmidt. 2001. Chronic activation of the innate immune system may underlie the metabolic syndrome. Sao Paulo Medical Journal 119: 122-127.
- Eckel, R. H., S. M. Grundy, and P. Z. Zimmet. 2005. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet. 365: 1416-1428.
- Fischer, M. A., and H. S. Black. 1991. Modification of membrane composition, eicosanoid metabolism, and immunoresponsiveness by dietary omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid sources, modulators of ultraviolet-carcinogenesis.
 Photochem. Photobiol. 54: 381-387.
- Fontaine, G. L., J. K. Belknap, D. Allen, J. N. Moore, and D. L. Kroll. 2001. Expression of interleukin-1beta in the digital laminae of horses in the prodromal stage of experimentally induced laminitis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 62: 714-720.
- Hardardottir, I., C. Grunfeld, and K. R. Feingold. 1994. Effects of endotoxin and cytokines on lipid metabolism. Current Opinions in Lipidology 5: 207-215.

- Henderson, C. D., H. S. Black, and J. R. Wolf. 1989. Influence of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid sources on prostaglandin levels in mice. Lipids 24: 502-505.
- Henneke, D. R., G. D. Potter, J. L. Kreider, and B. F. Yeates. 1983. Relationship between condition score, physical measurements and body fat percentage in mares. Equine Vet. J. 15: 371-372.
- Heusner, G. L. 1993. Ad libitum feeding of mature horses to achieve rapid weight gain. In: Proc. 13th Equine Nutr. Physiol. Symp., Gainesville, FL
- Hotamisligil, G. S., N. S. Shargill, and B. M. Spiegelman. 1993. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-a: Direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 259: 87-91.
- Hotamisligil, G. S., P. Arner, J. F. Caro, R. L. Atkinson, and B. M. Spiegelman. 1995.
 Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alph in human obesity and insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. 95: 2409-2415.
- Hotamisligil, G. S. 1999. Mechanisms of tnf-alpha induced insulin resistance. Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes 107: 119-125.
- Hughes, K. J., D.R. Hodgson, and A. J. Dart. 2004. Equine hyperlipaemia: A review. Aust. Vet. J. 82: 136-142.
- Jeffcott, L. B., J.R. Field, J.G. McLean and K. O'Dea. . 1986. Glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in ponies and Standardbred horses. Equine Vet. J. 18: 97-101.
- Jeffcott, L. B., and J. R. Field. 1985. Current concepts of hyperlipaemia in horses and ponies. Vet. Rec. 116: 461-466.

- Johnson, P. J. 2002. The equine metabolic syndrome Peripheral Cushing's syndrome. Vet. Clin. Equine. 18: 271-293.
- Kahl, S., and T. H. Elsasser. 2006. Exogenous testosterone modulates tumor necrosis factor- alpha and acute phase protein responses to repeated endotoxin challenge in steers. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 31: 301-311.
- Kawasaki, H., M. Moriyama, Y. Ohtani, M. Naitoh, A. Tanaka, and H. Nariuchi.1989. Analysis of endotoxin fever in rabbits by using a monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor (cachectin). Infect. Immun. 57: 3131-3135.
- Kim, C.-S., H.-S. Park, T. Kawada, J.-H. Kim, D. Lim, N. E. Hubbard, B.-S. Kwon,
 K. L. Erickson, and R. Yu. 2006. Circulating levels of mcp-1 and il-8 are elevated in human obese subjects and associated with obesity-related parameters. Int. J. Obes. 30: 1347-1355.
- Kondo, N., M. Nomura, Y, Nakaya, S. Ito, T. Ohguro. 2005. Association of inflammatory marker and highly sensitive C-reactive protein with aerobic exercise capacity, maximum oxygen uptake and insulin resistance in healthy middle-aged volunteers. Circ. J. 69(4): 452-457.
- Kronfeld, D. S., K. H. Treiber, T, M. Hess, R. K. Splan, B. M. Byrd, W. B. Staniar, and N. W. White. 2006. Metabolic syndrome in healthy ponies facilitates nutritional countermeasures against pasture laminitis. J. Nutr. 136: 2090S-2093S.
- Niessner, A., B. Richter, M. Penka, S. Steiner, et a. 2006. Endurance training reduces circulating inflammatory markers in persons at risk of coronary events: impact on plaque stabilization? Atherosclerosis. 2006 186(1):160-5.

- Morin, C. L., R. H. Eckel, T. Marcel, and M. J. Pagliassotti. 1997. High fat diets elevate adipose tissue-derived tumor necrosis factor-alpha activity. Endocrinology 138: 4665-4671.
- Permana, P. A., C. Menge, and P. D. Reaven. 2006. Macrophage-secreted factors induce adipocyte inflammation and insulin resistance. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 341: 507-514.
- Pickup, J. C. 2004. Inflammation and activated innate immunity in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 27: 813-823.
- Plata-Salaman, C. R. 1998. Cytokine-induced anorexia. Behavioral, cellular, and molecular mechanisms. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 856: 160-170.
- Pollit, C. 1999. Equine laminitis; a revised pathophysiology. Proc. Ann. Conv. American Assoc. Equine Prac. 45: 188-192.
- Powell, D. M., S. E. Reedy, D. R. Sessions, and B. P. Fitzgerald. 2002. Effect of short-term exercise training on insulin sensitivity in obese and lean mares. Equine Vet. J. 34: 81-84.
- Quinn, R. W. 2007. Dissertation in Progress. University of Maryland, College Park.
- Rallidis, L. S., G. Paschos, G. K. Liakos, A. H. Velissaridou, G. Anastasiadis, and A. Zampelas. 2003. Dietary alpha-linolenic acid decreases c-reactive protein, serum amyloid a and interleukin-6 in dyslipidemic patients. Atherosclerosis 167: 237-242.
- Salmenniemi, U., E. Ruotsalainen, J. Pihlajamaki, I. Vauhkonen, S. Kainulainen, K. Punnonen, E. Vanninen, and M. Laakso. 2004. Multiple abnormalities in glucose and energy metabolism and coordinated changes in levels of

adiponectin, cytokines, and adhesion molecules in subjects with metabolic syndrome. Circulation 110: 3842-3848.

- Saigusa, T. 1990. Participation of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor in the responses of the sympathetic nervous system during lipopolysaccharide-induced fever. Pflugers Arch. 416: 225-229.
- Samuelsson, L., A. Gottsater, and F. Lindgarde. 2003. Decreasing levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 6 during lowering of body mass index with orlistat or placebo in obese subjects with cardiovascular risk factors.
 Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolism 5: 195-201.
- Schmidt, M. I., B. B. Duncan, A. R. Sharret, G. Lindberg, P. J. Savage, S.
 Offenbacher, M. I. Azambuja, R. P. Tracey, and G. Heiss. 1999. Markers of inflammation and prediction of diabetes mellitus in adultes (atherosclerosis risk in communities study): A cohort study. Lancet 353: 1649-1652.
- Sethi, J. K., and G. S. Hotamisligil. 1999. The role of tnf alpha in adipocyte metabolism. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 10: 19-29.
- Skurk, T., C. Herder, I. Kraft, S. Muller-Scholze, H. Hauner, and H. Kolb. 2005. Production and release of macrophage migration inhibitory factor from human adipocytes. Endocrinology 146: 1006-1011.
- Suganami, T., J. Nishida, and Y. Ogawa. 2005. A paracrine loop between adipocytes and macrophages aggravates inflammatory changes. Role of free fatty acids and tumor necrosis factor alpha. Arteriosclerotic, Thrombotic, and Vascular Biology 25: 2062-2068.

- Suganami, T., K. Tanimoto-Koyama, J. Nishida, M. Itoh, X. Yuan, et al. 2007. Role of the Toll-like receptor 4/NF-kappaB pathway in saturated fatty acid-induced inflammatory changes in the interaction between adipocytes and macrophages. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2007. 27(1):84-91.
- Tracey, K. J., H. Wei, K. R. Manogue, Y. Fong, D. G. Hesse, H.T. Nguyen, G. C.
 Kuo, B. Beutler, R. S. Cotran, A. Cerami, and S. F. Lowry. 1987.
 Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor induces cachexia, anemia, and inflammation.
 Journal of Experimental Medicine 167: 2111-1227.
- Treiber, K. H., D. S. Kronfeld, and R. J. Geor. 2006. Insulin resistance in equids: Possible role in laminitis. J. Nutr. 136: 2094S-2098S.
- Tsukui, S., T. Kanda, M. Nara, M. Nishino, T. Kondo, and I. Kobayashi. 2000. Moderate-intensity regular exercise decreases serum tumor necrosis factoralpha and hba1c levels in health women. Int. J. Obes. 24: 1207-1211.
- Vick, M. M., A. A. Adams, B. A. Murphy, D. R. Sessions, D. W. Horohov, R. F. Cook, B. F. Shelton, and B. P. Fitzgerald. 2007. Relationship between inflammatory cytokines, obesity, and insulin sensitivity in the horse. J. Anim. Sci. *In Print*.
- Weisberg, S. P., D. McCann, M. Desai, M. Rosenbaum, R. L. Leibel, and A. W. Ferrante Jr. 2003. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 112: 1796-1808.
- Wellen, K. E., and G. S. Hotamisligil. 2003. Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. J. Clin. Invest. 112: 1785-1788.

- Xu, H., T. Uysal, J. D. Becherer, P. Arner, and G. S. Hotamisligil. 2002. Altered tumor necrosis factor-alpha (tnf-alpha) processing in adipocytes and increased expression of transmembrane tnf-alpha in obesity. Diabetes 51: 1876-1883.
- Ziccardi, P., F. Nappo, F., G. Giugliano, K. Esposito, R. Marfella, M. Cioffi, F. D' Andrea, A. M. Molinari, and D. Giugliano. 2002. Reduction of inflammatory cytokine concentrations and improvement of endothelial functions in obese women after weight loss over one year. Circulation. 105: 804-809.

TABLES

Table 1. Nutrient composition of a mixed grass/alfalfa hay (Hay) and either a concentrate high in starch and sugar (HS) or high in fiber and fat (HF) fed to horses^{1, 2}

					Pooled	
Nutrient	Hay	Hay SEM	HS	HF	SEM ³	<i>P</i> -value ⁴
CP, %	14.4	1.0	10.0	10.1	0.6	0.965
ADF, %	34.2	0.4	8.0	21.7	1.3	< 0.001
NDF, %	53.9	0.1	17.0	32.8	1.3	< 0.001
NSC ⁵ , %	14.2	0.1	56.7	20.1	1.4	< 0.001
Fat, %	3.1	0.8	4.3	17.2	0.9	< 0.001
Ash, %	7.0	0.02	4.6	7.4	0.5	0.001
Ca, %	0.8	1.9	0.7	1.2	0.1	0.010
P, %	0.3	1.5	0.3	0.3	0.03	0.041
DE, Mcal/kg	1.0	0.02	3.6	2.9	0.03	< 0.001
DE, Mcal/kg ⁶			3.6	3.5		

¹ DM basis as analyzed by Dairy One (Ithaca, NY)

 2 n = 15 for Hay; n = 9 for HS; n = 6 for HF

³ SEM pooled for HS and HF concentrates

⁴ Significance of differences between HS and HF concentrates

⁵ Non-structural carbohydrates

⁶ Theoretical DE value calculated based on the feed formulation, as proposed

by Harris and Kronfeld (2003)

Table 2. Digestible energy (DE) intakes of horses fed for weight gain over an eight

 month period on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a high in starch and sugar (HS)

 concentrate or a high in fat and fiber (HF) concentrate and then exercise restricted for

	Conce		
			<i>P</i> -
Month	HS	HF	value
	Mc	al/d	
Aug	18.0 ± 0.5	18.2 ± 0.5	0.735
Sep	35.8 ± 0.5	34.8 ± 0.5	0.946
Oct	33.4 ± 1.0	32.1 ± 1.1	0.414
Nov	35.1 ± 1.7	32.7 ± 1.8	0.349
Dec	39.2 ± 2.0	37.5 ± 2.2	0.576
Jan	33.0 ± 1.6	28.3 ± 1.7	0.066
Fen	34.6 ± 1.9	31.5 ± 2.0	0.286
Mar	36.5 ± 2.7	32.7 ± 2.9	0.347
Apr	36.0 ± 2.1	30.5 ± 2.2	0.091
MinEx	29.1 ± 2.1	27.1 ± 2.4	0.534

two weeks (MinEx)

Table 3. Recovery of tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF) from serum of horses from varied body condition scores (BCS) after spiking with recombinant equine TNF and dilutional parallelism of an ELISA specific for equine TNF (Endogen, Pierce,

		BCS 3	3.5-4.5		BCS	5 5-6		BCS 6.	5-7.5	
	Spike ² ,	О,	Е,		О,	Е,			Е,	
Dilution	pg/mL	pg/ml	pg/ml	R, %	pg/ml	pg/ml	R, %	O, pg/ml	pg/ml	R, %
1:4	0	1.2	-	-	27.6	-	-	71.6	-	-
1:4	1000.0	848.8	1001.2	84.8	884.5	1027.6	86.1	919.1	1071.6	85.8
1:8	500.0	481.6	501.3	96.1	547.0	529.1	103.4	625.7	575.6	108.7
1:16	250.0	255.7	251.3	101.8	302.5	279.9	108.1	372.5	327.6	113.7
1:32	125.0	129.3	126.3	102.4	181.4	156.0	116.3	230.0	203.6	113.0
1:64	62.5	66.4	63.9	103.9	99.5	93.0	107.0	160.2	141.6	113.1
1:128	31.3	35.7	32.6	109.5	64.5	61.8	104.4	121.8	110.5	110.2
1:256	15.6	20.0	17.0	117.6	50.2	46.2	108.7	104.5	95.1	109.9

Rockford, IL) 1

¹O=observed concentrations; E=expected concentrations; R=percent recovery

² Spiked with recombinant TNF (Endogen, Pierce, Rockford, IL)

FIGURES



Figure 1. Body condition scores (BCS) and body weight (BW) of horses fed for weight gain on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a concentrate high in starch and sugar or high in fat and fiber. A two week minimal exercise period (MinEx) followed the weight gain period. Monthly means are averaged across diets and represented as mean \pm SE. ^{a,b,c,d, e, f, g} Means with unlike superscripts within either BCS or BW differ (*P* < 0.05).



Figure 2. Effects of body condition score (BCS) on serum tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF) concentrations of horses fed for weight gain on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a high in starch and sugar or a high in fat and fiber diet. Geometric means are averaged across diets and represented as mean \pm SE.^{a, b} Means with unlike superscripts differ (*P* < 0.05).



Figure 3. The effects of exercise restriction on serum tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF) concentrations of horses fed for weight gain on a mixed grass/alfalfa hay and either a high in starch and sugar or a high in fat and fiber diet. Geometric means are averaged across diets and represented as mean ± SE. There was a trend for increased TNF after exercise restriction (*P* = 0.075).

Chapter 5: General Summary

The main objectives of these studies were to assess the effects of weight gain and diet on body condition scoring in Thoroughbred (TB) geldings as well as to assess the effects of weight gain, diet and exercise on inflammation in the horse as indicated by serum concentrations of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF). For these studies, fifteen TB geldings were fed for weight gain on hay plus either a high in starch and sugar (HS) concentrate or a high in fat and fiber (HF) concentrate over an eight month period. Monthly body area (neck, withers, shoulders, ribs, loin, and tailhead) body condition scores (BCS) were recorded by two judges, and blood was analyzed for serum TNF concentrations. The BCS method used was that of Henneke et al. (1983).

We found no dietary effect on body area body condition score, but there were significant differences between body area scores within months. Neck scored consistently higher than both withers and loin, while shoulders, ribs, and tailhead agreed during most monthly assessments. Additionally, the agreement between the two judge's scores was not consistent across either time periods or body areas, indicating the subjective nature of body condition scoring. The withers and loin were two areas that may be most influenced by conformation and should therefore be removed from BCS scoring. Several equations able to accurately predict the mean while utilizing a smaller subset of body areas were identified, however

recommendation of one above all others will require assessment on a different population of horses.

In the second study, the eight month weight gain period was followed by two weeks of no exercise. There was no dietary effect on serum TNF concentrations, while horses in low body condition had higher TNF concentrations than horses in high body condition. Restricting exercise tended to increase TNF concentrations. These findings imply that horses in low body condition as well as those with minimal exercise are at an increased risk for inflammation.
Chapter 6: Vita

Jessica K. Suagee was born on March 8, 1983 in Sylva, North Carolina to Mr. and Mrs. Dean B. Suagee. She graduated from the Science and Technology Program at Eleanor Roosevelt High School in Greenbelt, Maryland in 2001. She went on to pursue a Bachelor of Science degree in Nutritional Science from the University of Maryland, and graduated in 2005 with a citation from the University Honors Program. Jessica was employed as a research assistant at the Food and Drug Administration in Laurel, Maryland following graduation.

In August of 2005, Jessica returned to the University of Maryland to pursue a Master of Science degree in Animal Science with an emphasis on equine nutrition. This was done under the direction of Dr. Amy Burk. Jessica was recently admitted to the graduate program in Animal and Poultry Science at Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University to pursue a PhD under the direction of Dr. Ray Geor. She was also awarded a John Lee Pratt Fellowship in Animal Nutrition.

Jessica K. Suagee

References

- Abate, N., A. Garg, R. M. Peshock, J. Stray-Gundersen, B. Huet-Adams, and S. M. Grundy. 1996. Relationship of generalized and regional adiposity to insulin sensitivity in men with niddm. Diabetes 45: 1648-1693.
- Alexander, A. A., G. H. Diaz, M. L. Barcelata, O. A. Guerrero, and R. M. O. Ros.
 2004. Effects of fish oil on hypertension, plasma lipids, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in rats with sucrose-induced metabolic syndrome. J. Nutr.
 Biochem. 15: 350-357.
- Alford, P., S. Geller, B. Richardson, M. Slater, C. Honnas, J. Foreman, J. Robinson,
 M. Messer, M. Roberts, D. Goble, D. Hood, and M. Chaffin. 2001. A
 multicenter, matched case-control study of risk factors for equine laminitis.
 Preventative Veterinary Medicine 49: 209-222.
- Allen, D., E. S. Clark, J. N. Moore, and K. W. Prasse. 1990. Evaluation of equine digital starling forces and hemodynamics during early laminitis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 51: 1930-1934.
- Balkau, B., and M. A. Charles. 1999. Comment on the provisional report from the who consultation. Diabetic Medicine 16: 442-443.
- Battistini, B., P. D'Orleans-Juste, and P. Sirois. 1993. Endothelins: Circulating plasma levels and presence in other biologic fluids. Lab. Invest. 68: 600-628.
- Bernhagen, J., T. Calandra, and R. Bucala. 1998. Regulation of the immune response by macrophage migration inhibitory factor: Biological and structural features. J Mol Med 76.

- Bonora, E., S. Kiechl, J. Willeit, F. Oberhollenzer, G. Egger, R.C. Bonadonna, and M. Muggeo. 2003. Metabolic syndrome: Epidemiology and more extensive phenotypic description. Cross sectional data from the bruneck study. Int. J. Obes. 27: 1283-1289.
- Borst, S. E., and C. F. Conover. 2005. High-fat diet induces increased tissue expression of TNF-alpha. Life Sciences 77: 2156-2165.
- Breidenbach, A., H. Fuhrmann, E. Deegen, A. Lindholm, and H. P. Sallmann. 1999.
 Studies on equine lipid metabolism 2. Lipolytic activities of plasma and tissue lipases in large horses and ponies. Journal of Veterinary Medicine A 46: 39-48.
- Broome, T. A., D. Allen, G. M. Baxter, D. G. Pugh, and E. Mahaffey. 1992. Septic metritis secondary to torsion of a pedunculated uterine fibroleiomyoma in a filly. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 200: 1685-1688.
- Bruun, J. M., A. S. Lihn, S. B. Pedersen, and B. Richelsen. 2005. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 release is higher in visceral than subcutaneous human adipose tissue (at): Implications of macrophages resident in the at. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90: 2282-2289.
- Budras, K. D., K. Scheibe, B. Patan, W. J. Streich, and K. Kim. 2001. Laminitis in przewalski horses kept in a semireserve. J. Vet. Sci. 2: 1-7.
- Bueno, A. C., T. L. Seahorn, J. Cornick-Seahorn, D. W. Hornhov, and R. M. Moore. 1999. Plasma and urine nitric oxide concentrations in horses given a low dose of endotoxin. Am. J. Vet. Res. 60: 969-976.

- Bullo, M., P. Garcia-Lorda, I. Megias, and J. Salas-Salvado. 2003. Systemic inflammation, adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor, and leptin expression. Obes. Res. 11: 525-531.
- Burkholder, W. J. 2000. Use of body condition scores in clinical assessment of the provision of optimal nutrition. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 217: 650-654.
- Calandra, T., J. Bernhagen, C. N. Metz, L. A. Spiegel, M. Bacher, T. Donnelly, A. Cerami, and R. Bucala. 1995. MIF as a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production. Nature 377: 68-71.
- Calandra, T., Bernhagen, R. A. Mitchell, and R. Bucala. 1994. The macrophage is an important and previously unrecognized source of macrophage migration inhibitory factor. J Exp med 179: 1895-1902.
- Calandra, T., and R. Bucala. 1997. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF): A glucocorticoid counter-regulator within the immune system. Crit Rev Immunol 17: 77-88.
- Calandra, T., L. A. Spiegel, C. N. Metz, and R. Bucala. 1998. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor is a critical mediator of the activation of immune cells by endotoxins of gram-positive bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 11383-11388.
- Cancello, R., C. Henegar, N. Viguerie, S. Taleb, C. Poitou, C. Roualt, M. Coupaye,
 V. Pelloux, D. Hugol, J.-L. Bouillot, A. Bouloumie, G. Barbatelli, S. Cinti, P.
 A. Svensson, G. S. Barsh, J. D. Zucker, A. Basdevant, D. Langin, and K.
 Clement. 2005. Reduction of macrophage infiltration and chemoattractant

gene expression changes in white adipose tissue of morbidly obese subjects after surgery-induced weight loss. Diabetes 54: 2277-2286.

- Carroll, C. L., and P. J. Huntington. 1988. Body condition scoring and weight estimation of horses. Equine Vet. J. 20: 41-45.
- Chajek-Shaul, T., G. Friedman, O. Stein, E. Shiloni, J. Etienne, and Y. Stein. 1989. Mechanism of the hypertriglyceridemia induced by tumor necrosis factor administration to rats. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1001: 316-324.
- Chan, J. C. N., J. C. K. Cheung, C. D. A. Stehouwer, J. J. Emeis, P. C. Y. Tong, G. T.
 C. Ko, and J. S. Yudkin. 2002. The central roles of obesity-associated
 dyslipidaemia, endothelial activation and cytokines in the metabolic syndrome
 an analysis by structural equation modeling. Int. J. Obes. 26: 994-1008.
- Chen, A., S. Mumick, C. Zhang, J. Lamb, H. Dai, D. Weingarth, J. Mudgett, H. Chen,
 D. J. MacNeil, M. L. Reitman, and S. Qian. 2005. Diet induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and its impact on obesity. Obes. Res. 13: 1311-1320.
- Christiansen, T., B. Richelsen, and J. M. Bruun. 2005. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is produced in isolated adipocytes, associated with adiposity and reduced after weight loss in morbid obese subjects. Int J Obes (Lond) 29: 675-681.
- Chung, S., K. LaPoint, K. Martinez, A. Kennedy, M. B. Sandberg, and M. K. McIntosh. 2006. Preadipocytes mediate lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation and insulin resistance in primary cultures of newly differentiated human adipocytes. Endocrinology 147: 5340-5351.

- Coffman, J. R., and C. M. Colles. 1983. Insulin tolerance in laminitic ponies. Can. Vet. J. 47: 347-351.
- Coppack, S. W. 2001. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and adipose tissue. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 60: 349-356.
- Cousin, B., O. Munoz, and M. Andre. 1999. A role for preadipocytes as macrophage like cells. FASEB J 13: 305-312.
- Creeley, S. J., P. G. McTernan, C. M. Kusminski, F. F. M. Fisher, M. Khanolkar, M. Evans, A. I. Harte, and S. Kumar. 2006. Lipopolysaccharide activates an innate immune system response in human adipose tissue in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. Article in Press.
- Cripps, P. J., and R. A. Eustace. 1999. Factors involved in the prognosis of equine laminitis in the UK. Equine Vet. J. 31: 433-442.
- Dandona, P., R. Weinstock, K. Thusu, E. Abdel-Rahman, A. Aljada, and T. Wadden. 1998. Tumor necrosis factor- alpha in sera of obese patients: Fall with weight loss. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 83: 2907-2911.
- Das, U. N. 2001. Is obesity an inflammatory condition? Nutrition 17: 953-966.
- Delano, M. J., and L. L. Moldawer. 2006. The origins of cachexia in acute and chronic inflammatory diseases. Nutr. Clin. Pract. 21(1): 68-81.
- Despres, J. -P. 2003. Inflammation and cardiovascular disease: is abdominal obesity the missing link? Int. J. Obesity. 27: 522-524.
- Do, M.-S., H.-S. Jeong, B.-H. Choi, L. Hunter, S. Langley, L. Pazmany, and P. Trayhurn. 2006. Inflammatory gene expression patterns revealed by DNA

microarray analysis in tnf-alpha-treated sgbs human adipocytes. Yonsei Med. J. 47: 729-736.

- Donaldson, M. T., D. McFarlane, A. J. R. Jorgensen, J. Beech. 2004. Correlation between plasma alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone concentration and body mass index in healthy horses. Am. J. Vet. Res. 65: 1469-1473.
- Duncan, B. B., and M. I. Schmidt. 2001. Chronic activation of the innate immune system may underlie the metabolic syndrome. Sao Paulo Medical Journal 119: 122-127.
- Eaton, S. A., D. Allen, S. C. Eades, and D. A. Schneider. 1995. Digital starling forces and hemodynamics during early laminitis induced by an aqueous extract of black walnut (*juglans nigrai*) in horses. Am. J. Vet. Res. 56: 1338-1344.
- Eckel, R. H., S. M. Grundy, and P. Z. Zimmet. 2005. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet. 365: 1416-1428.
- Engstrom, G., B. Hedblad, L. Stavenow, P. Lind, L. Janzon, and F. Lindgarde. 2003. Inflammation-sensitive plasma proteins are associated with future weight gain. Diabetes 52.
- Evans, D. G. 1978. The interpretation and analysis of subjective body condition scores. Anim. Prod. 26.
- Fain, J. N. 2006. Release of interleukins and other inflammatory cytokines by human adipose tissue is enhanced in obesity and primarily due to the non fat cells. Vitam. Horm. 74: 443-477.
- Fain, J. N., S. W. Bahouth, and A. K. Madan. 2004a. TNF- alpha release by the nonfat cells of human adipose tissue. Int. J. Obes. 28: 616-622.

- Fain, J. N., and A. K. Madan. 2005. Regulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (mcp-1) release by explants of human visceral adipose tissue. Int. J. Obes. 29: 1299-1307.
- Fain, J. N., A. K. Madan, M. L. Hiler, P. Cheema, and S. W. Bahouth. 2004b. Comparison of the release of adipokines by adipose tissue, adipose tissue matrix, and adipocytes from visceral and subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissue of obese humans. Endocrinology 145: 2273-2282.
- Farin, H. M. F., F. Abbasi, and G. M. Reaven. 2006. Body mass index and waist circumference both contribute to differences in insulin-mediated glucse disposal in nondiabetic adults. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 83: 47-51.
- Farin, H. M. F., F. Abbasi, and G. M. Reaven. 2005. Body mass index and waist circumference correlate to the same degree with insulin-mediated glucose uptake. Metabolism Clinical Experimental 54: 1323-1328.
- Feingold, K. R., W. Doerrler, C. A. Dinarello, W. Fiers, C. Grunfeld. 1992. Stimulation of lipolysis in cultured fat cells by tumor necrosis factor, interleukin-1, and the interferons is blocked by inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis. Endocrinology 130: 10-16.
- Feingold, K. R., and C. Grunfeld. 1987. Tumor necrosis factor- alpha stimulates hepatic lipogenesis in the rat in vivo. J. Clin. Invest. 80: 184-190.
- Feingold, K. R., M. Soued, M. K. Serio, A. H. Moser, C. A. Dinarello, and C. Grunfeld. 1989. Multiple cytokines stimulate hepatic lipid synthesis in vivo. Endocrinology 125: 267-274.

- Feinstein, R., H. Kanety, M. S. Papa, B. Lunenfeld, and A. Karasic. 1993. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha suppresses insulin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor and its substrates. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 26055-26057.
- Fernandez-Real, J. M., P. Botas-Cervero, B. Lainez, W. Ricart, and E. Delgado. 2006. An alternatively spliced soluble tnf-alpha receptor is associated with metabolic disorders. A replication study. Clinical Immunology 121: 236-241.
- Festa, A., R. D' Agostino, G. Howard, L. Mykkanen, R. P. Tracey, and S. M.
 HaffnerM. 2000. Chronic subclinical inflammation as part of the insulin resistance syndrome: The insulin resistance atherosclerosis study (iras).
 Circulation 102: 42-47.
- Festa, D., R. D'Agostino, K. Williams, A. J. Karter, E. J. Mayer-Davis, R. P. Tracy, and S. M. Haffner. 2001. The relation of body fat mass and distribution to markers of chronic inflammation. Int. J. Obes. 25.
- Field, J. R., and L. B. Jeffcott. 1989. Equine laminitis- another hypothesis for pathogenesis Medical Hypotheses 30: 203-210.
- Flad, H.-D., H. Loppnow, W. Feist, M.-H. Wang, H. Brade, S. Kusumoto, E.
 Rietschel, and A. J. Ulmer. 1989. Interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor:
 Studies on the induction of lipopolysaccharide partial structures. Lymphokine and cytokine research 8: 235-238.
- Fleming, I., and R. Busse. 1999. No: The primary edrf. Journal of Molecular Cardiology 31: 5-14.
- Fontaine, G. L., J. K. Belknap, D. Allen, J. N. Moore, and D. L. Kroll. 2001. Expression of interleukin-1beta in the digital laminae of horses in the

prodromal stage of experimentally induced laminitis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 62: 714-720.

- Forhead, A. J. 1994. Relationship between plasma insulin and triglyceride concentrations in hypertriglyceridaemic donkeys. Res. Vet. Sci. 56: 389-392.
- Frank, N., S. B. Elliot, L. E. Brandt, and D. H. Keisler. 2006. Physical characteristics, blood hormone concentrations, and plasma lipid concentrations in obese horses with insulin resistance. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 228: 1383-1390.
- Frank, N., J. E. Sojka, and M. A. Latour. 2002. Effect of withholding feed on concentration and composition of plasma very low density lipoprotein and serum nonesterified fatty acids in horses. Am. J. Vet. Res. 63: 1018-1021.
- Freestone, J. F., K. J. Woflsheimer, S. G. Kamerling, G. Church, J. Hamra, and C.Bagwell. 1991a. Exercise induced hormonal changes in thoroughbred horses:Effects of conditioning and acepromazine. Equine Vet. J. 23: 219-223.
- Freestone, J. F., K. J. Wolfsheimer, R. B. Ford, G. Church, and R. Bessin. 1991b. Triglyceride, insulin and cortisol responses of ponies to fasting and dexamethasone administration. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 5: 15-22.
- French, K., and C. C. Pollitt. 2004. Equine laminitis: Glucose deprivation and MMP activation induce dermo-epidermal separation *in vitro*. Equine Vet. J. 36: 261-266.
- French, K., C. C. Pollitt, and M. A. Pass. 2000. Pharmacokinetics and metabolic effects of triamcinolone acetonide and their possible relationships to glucocorticoid-induced laminitis in horses. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacological Therapy 23: 287-292.

- Garner, H. E., J. R. Coffman, A. W. Huhn, and C. Salem. 1975. Equine laminitis of alimentary origin: An experimental model. Am. J. Vet. Res. 36: 441-445.
- Gay, C. C., N. D. Sullivan, J. S. Wilkinson, J. D. McLean, and D. C. Blood. 1978. Hyperlipemia in ponies. Aust. Vet. J. 54: 459-462.
- Gentry, L. R., D. L. Thompson, G. T. Gentry, R. P. Del Vecchio, K. A. Davis, and P.
 M. Del Vecchio. 2004. The relationship between body condition score and ultrasonic fat measurements in mares of high versus low body condition. J.
 Equine. Vet. Sci. 24: 198-203.
- Gerhardt, C. C., I. A. Romero, R. Cancello, L. Camoin, A. D. Strosberg. 2001.Chemokines control fat accumulation and leptin secretion by cultured human adipocytes. Molecular and Cellular Biology 175: 81-92.
- Gilbert, R. O. 1986. Congenital hyperlipemia in a Shetland pony. Equine Vet. J. 18: 498-500.
- Graham-Thiers, P. M., D. S. Kronfeld, and K. A. Kline. 1999. Dietary protein influences acid-base responses to repeated sprints. Equine Vet. J. Suppl. 30: 463-467.
- Green, A., S. B. Dobias, D. J. A. Walters, and A. R. Brasier. 1994. Tumor necrosis factor increases the rate of lipolysis in primary cultures of adipocytes without altering levels of hormone-sensitive lipase. Endocrinology 134: 2581-2588.
- Grunfeld, C., and K. R. Feingold. 1991. The metabolic effects of tumor necrosis factor and other cytokines. Biotherapy 3: 143-158.

- Grunfeld, C., J. A. Verdier, R. Neese, A. H. Moser, and K. R. Feingold. 1988. Mechanisms by which tumor necrosis factor stimulates hepatic fatty acid synthesis in vivo. J. Lipid Res. 29: 1327-1335.
- Hales, J. R. S., and G. S. Molyneux. 1985. Control of cutaneous arteriovenous anastomoses. Raven Press, New York, NY.
- Han, S. N., L. S. Leka, A. H. Lichtenstein, L. M. Ausman, E. J. Schaefer, and S. Meydani. 2002. Effect of hydrogenated and saturated, relative to polyunsaturated, fat on immune and inflammatory responses of adults with moderate hypercholesterolemia. J. Lipid Res. 43: 445-452.
- Hardardottir, I., C. Grunfeld, and K. R. Feingold. 1994. Effects of endotoxin and cytokines on lipid metabolism. Current Opinions in Lipidology 5: 207-215.
- Hauner, H., M. Bender, B. Haastert, and F. Hube. 1998a. Plasma concentrations of tnf-alpha and its soluble receptors in obese subjects. Int. J. Obesity 22: 1239-1243.
- Hauner, H., T. H. Petruschke, M. Russ, K. Rohrig, and J. Eckel. 1995. Effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) on glucose transport and lipid metabolism of newly-differentiated human fat cells in cell culture.
 Diabetologia 38: 764-771.
- Hauner, H., K. Rohrig, M. Spelleken, L. S. Liu, and J. Eckel. 1998b. Development of insulin-responsive glucose uptake and glut4 expression in differentiating human adipocyte precursor cells. International Journal of Obesity 22: 448-453.

- Henneke, D. R. 1981. Body condition and reproductive efficiency of mares, Texas A&M.
- Henneke, D. R., G. D. Potter, J. L. Kreider, and B. F. Yeates. 1983. Relationship between condition score, physical measurements and body fat percentage in mares. Equine Vet. J. 15: 371-372.
- Hermann, G. E., G. M. Homes, and R. C. Rogers. 2005. TNF alpha modulation of visceral and spinal sensory processing. Curr. Opin. Pharma. Des. 11: 1391-1409.
- Hernandez, R., T. Teruel, C. de Alvaro, and M. Lorenzo. 2004. Rosiglitazone ameliorates insulin resistance in brown adipocytes of wistar rats by impairing TNF-alpha induction of p38 and p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinases. Diabetologia 47: 1615-1624.
- Heusner, G. L. 1993. Ad libitum feeding of mature horses to achieve rapid weight gain. In: Proc. 13th Equine Nutr. Physiol. Symp., Gainesville, FL
- Hines, K. K., S. L. Hodge, J. L. Kreider, G. D. Potter, P. G. Harms. 1987.Relationship between body condition and levels of serum luteinizing hormone in postpartum mares. Theriogenology 28: 815-825.
- Hirokawa, J., S. Sakaue, Y. Furuya, J. Ishii, A. Hasegawa, S. Tagami, Y. Kawakami,
 M. Sakai, S. Nishi, and J. Nishihira. 1998. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
 regulates the gene expression of macrophage migration inhibitory factor
 through tyrosine kinase-dependent pathway in 3t3-11 adipocytes. J. Biochem.
 (Tokyo) 123: 733-739.

- Hoffman, R. M., C. M. Boston, D. Stefanovski, D. S. Kronfeld, and P.A. Harris.
 2003a. Obesity and diet affect glucose dynamics and insulin sensitivity in thoroughbred geldings. Journal of Animal Science 81: 2333-2342.
- Hoffman, R. M., R. C. Boston, D. Stefanovski, D. S. Kronfeld, and P. A. Harris.
 2003b. Obesity and diet affect glucose dynamics and insulin sensitivity in thoroughbred geldings. J. Anim. Sci. 81: 2333-2342.
- Holm, A. S., C. S. Venugopal, S. C. Eades, et al. 2002. Effects of black walnut extract administration on in vitro responses of equine palmar digital arterial and venous rings to endothelin-1, acetylcholine and nitroglycerine. In: Proc. 7th Ann. Int. Equine Colic Res. Symp.
- Hood, D. M., D. A. Grosenbaugh, M. B. Mostafa, S. J. Morgan, and B. C. Thomas.1993. The role of vascular mechanisms in the development of acute equine laminitis. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 7: 228-234.
- Hotamisligil, G. S. 1999. Mechanisms of TNF-alpha induced insulin resistance. Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes 107: 119-125.
- Hotamisligil, G. S., P. Arner, J. F. Caro, R. L. Atkinson, and B. M. Spiegelman. 1995.
 Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. 95: 2409-2415.
- Hotamisligil, G. S., A. Budavari, D. Murray, and B. M. Spiegelman. 1994. Reduced tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor in obesity-diabetes: Central role of tumor necrosis factor- alpha. J. Clin. Invest. 94: 1543-1549.

- Hotamisligil, G. S., R. S. Johnson, R. J. Distel, R. Ellis, V. E. Papaioannou, and B. M. Spiegelman. 1996. Differential regulation of the p80 tumor necrosis factor receptor in human obesity and insulin resistance. Diabetes 46.
- Hotamisligil, G. S., N. S. Shargill, and B. M. Spiegelman. 1993. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-a: Direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 259: 87-91.
- Hube, F., and H. Hauner. 1999. The role of TNF-alpha in human adipose tissue:Prevention of weight gain at the expense of insulin resistance? Hormone and Metabolic Research 31: 626-631.
- Hughes, K. J., D. R. Hodgson, and A. J. Dart. 2004. Equine hyperlipaemia: A review. Aust. Vet. J. 82: 136-142.
- Islam, S., F. Hassan, M. Mu, H. Ito, N. Koide, I. Mori. 2004. Piceatannol prevents lipopolysaccharide (lps)-induced nitric oxide (no) production and nuclear factor (nf)-kappa b activation by inhibiting i kappa b kinase (ikk). Microbiol Immunol 48: 729-736.
- Janowska, J., B. Zahorska-Markiewicz, and M. Olszanecka-Glinianowicz. 2006. Relationship between serum resistin concentration and pro-inflammatory cytokines in obese women with impaired and normal glucose tolerance. Metab. Clin. Exp. 55: 1495-1499.
- Jeffcott, L. B., and J. R. Field. 1985a. Epidemiological aspects of hyperlipemia in ponies in southeastern Australia. Aust. Vet. J. 62: 140-141.

- Jeffcott, L. B., J.R. Field, J.G. McLean and K. O'Dea. . 1986. Glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in ponies and Standardbred horses. Equine Vet. J. 18: 97-101.
- Jeffcott, L. B., and J. R. Field. 1985b. Current concepts of hyperlipaemia in horses and ponies. Vet. Rec. 116: 461-466.
- Jellema, A., J. Plat, and R. P. Mensink. 2004. Weight reduction, but not a moderate intake of fish oil, lowers concentrations of inflammatory markers and pai-i antigen in obese men during the fasting and postprandial state. European Journal of Clinical Investigation 34: 766-773.
- Jenkins, D. J. A., C. W. C. Kendall, P. W. Connelly, C.-J. Jackson, T. Parker, D.
 Faulkner, and E. Vidgen. 2002. Effects of high- and low- isoflavone (phytoestrogen) soy foods on inflammatory biomarkers and proinflammatory cytokines in middle-aged men and women. Metabolism 51: 919-924.
- Johnson, P. J. 2002. The equine metabolic syndrome Peripheral Cushing's syndrome. Vet. Clin. Equine. 18: 271-293.
- Johnson, P. J., V. K. Ganjam, S. H. Slight, J. M. Kreeger, and N. T. Messer. 2004. Tissue-specific dysregulation of cortisol metabolism in equine laminitis. Equine Vet. J. 36: 41-45.
- Johnson, P. J., S. C. Tyagi, L. C. Katwa, V. K. Ganjam, L. A. Moore, J. M. Kreeger, and N. T. Messer. 1998. Activation of extracellular matrix metalloproteinases in equine laminitis. Vet. Rec. 142: 392-396.
- Kanda, H., S. Tatey, Y. Tamori, K. Kotani, K.-I. Hiasa, R. Kitazawa, S. Kitazawa, H. Miyachi, S. Maeda, K. Egashira, M. Kasuga. 2006. Mcp-1 contributes to

macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, insulin resistance, and hepatic steatosis in obesity. J. Clin. Invest. 116: 1494-1505.

- Kane, R. A., M. Fisher, D. Parret, and L. M. Lawrence. 1989. Estimating fatness in horses. In: Proc. 10th Equine Nutr. Physiol. Symp., Fort Collins, Colorado. p 127-131.
- Kanety, H., R. Feinstein, M. Z. Papa, R. Hemi, and A. Karasik. 1995. Tumor necrosis factor alpha induced phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (irs-1).
 Possible mechanism for suppression of insulin stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of irs-1. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 23780-23784.
- Karter, A. J., E. J. Mayer-Davis, J. V. Selby, R. B. D'Agostino, S. M. Haffner, P. Sholinsky, R. Bergman, M. F. Saad, and R. F. Hamman. 1996. Insulin sensitivity and abdominal obesity in African- American, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic white men and women. The insulin resistance and atherosclerosis study. Diabetes 45: 1547-1555.
- Katwa, L. C., P. J. Johnson, V. K. Ganjam, J. M. Kreeger, and N. T. Messer. 1999. Expression of endothelin in equine laminitis. Equine Vet. J. 31: 243-247.
- Katz, L. M., C. M. Marr, and J. Elliott. 2003. Characterization and comparison of the responses of equine digital arteries and veins to endothelin-1. Am. J. Vet. Res. 64: 1438-1443.
- Kawakami, M., and A. Cerami. 1981. Studies of endotoxin-induced decrease in lipoprotein lipase activity. J. Exp. Med. 154: 631-639.

- Kawakami, M., T. Murase, H. Ogawa, S. Ishibashi, N. Mori, F. Takafu, and S.Shibata. 1987. Human recombinant tnf suppresses lipoprotein lipase activity and stimulates lipolysis in 3t3-11 cells. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 101: 331-338.
- Kawakami, M., P. H. Pekala, M. D. Lane, and A. Cerami. 1982. Lipoprotein lipase suppression in 3t3-11 cells by an endotoxin-induced mediator from exudate cells. PNAS 79: 912-916.
- Kawasaki, H., M. Moriyama, Y. Ohtani, M. Naitoh, A. Tanaka, and H. Nariuchi.
 1989. Analysis of endotoxin fever in rabbits by using a monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor (cachectin). Infect. Immun. 57: 3131-3135.
- Kearns, C. F., K. H. McKeever, K. Kumagai, and T. Abe. 2002. Fat-free mass is related to one-mile race performance in elite standardbred horses. Vet. J. 163.
- Kearns, C. F., K. H. McKeever, K. Malinowski, M. B. Struck, and T. Abe. 2001. Chronic administration of therapeutic levels of clenbuterol acts as a repartitioning agent. J. Appl. Physiol. 91: 2064-2070.
- Kellerer, M., K. Rett, L. Groop, and H. U. Haring. 1996. Circulating tnf-alpha and leptin levels in offspring of niddm patients do not correlate to individual insulin sensitivity. Horm. Metab. Res. 28: 737-743.
- Kern, P. A., M. Saghizadeh, J. M. Ong, R. J. Bosch, R. Deem, and R. B. Simsolo.
 1995. The expression of tumor necrosis factor in human adipose tissue:
 Regulation by obesity, weight loss, and relationship to lipoprotein lipase. J.
 Clin. Invest. 95: 2111-2119.
- Kershaw, E. E., and J. S. Flier. 2004. Adipose tissue as an endocrine gland. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89: 2548-2556.

- Kim, C.-S., H.-S. Park, T. Kawada, J.-H. Kim, D. Lim, N. E. Hubbard, B.-S. Kwon, K. L. Erickson, and R. Yu. 2006. Circulating levels of mcp-1 and il-8 are elevated in human obese subjects and associated with obesity-related parameters. Int. J. Obes. 30: 1347-1355.
- Krogh-Madsen, R., P. Plomgaard, K. Moller, B. Mittendorfer, and B. K. Pedersen.2006. Influence of tnf alpha and il-6 infusions on insulin sensitivity and expression of il-18 in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 291.
- Kronfeld, D. S. 1997. Nutritional assessment in equine practice. Purina Mills, St. Louis, MO.
- Kronfeld, D. S., K. H. Treiber, T. M. Hess, R. K. Splan, B. M. Byrd, W. B. Staniar, N.W. White. 2006. Metabolic syndrome in healthy ponies facilitates nutritional countermeasures against pasture laminitis. J. Nutr. 136: 2090S-2093S.
- Kubiak, J. R., J. W. Evans, G. D. Potter, P. G. Harms, and W. L. Jenkins. 1991. Milk yield and composition in the multiparous mare fed to obesity. J. Equine. Vet. Sci. 11: 158-162.
- Lawrence, L. J. S., K. Kline, L. Moser, D. Powell, and M. Biel. 1992. Observations on body weight and condition of horses in a 150-mile endurance ride. J. Equine. Vet. Sci. 12: 320-324.

Leighton-Hardman, A. C. 1980. Equine nutrition. Pelham Books, London.

Longland, A. C., A. J. Cairns, and M. O. Humphreys. 1999. Proc. 16th Equine Nutr. Physiol. Soc.

- Lumeng, C. N., S. M. Deyoung, and A. R. Salteil. 2007. Macrophages block insulin action in adipocytes by altering expression of signaling and glucose transport proteins. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 292: 166-174.
- Martiney, J. A., B. Sherry, C. N. Metz, M. Espinoza, A. S. Ferrer, T. Calandra, H. E. Broxmeyer, and R. Bucala. 2000. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor release by macrophages after ingestion of plasmodium chabaudi-infected erythrocytes: Possible role in the pathogenesis of malarial anemia. Infect Immun 68: 2259-2267.
- Mazzali, G., V. D. Francesco, E. Zoico, F. Fantin, G. Zamboni, C. Benati, V.
 Bambara, M. Negri, O. Bosello, and M. Zamboni. 2006. Interrelations
 between fat distribution, muscle lipid content, adipocytokines, and insulin
 resistance: Effect of moderate weight loss in older women. Am. J. Clin. Nutr.
 84: 1193-1199.
- Menzies-Gow, N. J., S. R. Bailey, L. Katz, C. M. Marr, and J. Elliot. 2004. Endotoxin-induced digital vasoconstriction in horses associated changes in plasma concentrations of vasoconstrictor mediators. Equine Vet. J. 36: 273-278.
- Miller, R. I., D. Wold, W. A. Lindsay, R. E. Beadle, J. J. McClure, J. R. McClure, and D. J. McCoy. 1983. Complications associated with immunotherapy of equine phycomycosis. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 182: 1227-1229.
- Minnick, P. D., C. M. Brown, W. E. Braselton, et al. 1987. The induction of equine laminitis with an aqueous extract of the heartwood of black walnut (*juglans nigra*). Vet. Hum. Toxicol. 29: 230-233.

- Mogg, T. D., and J. E. Palmer. 1995. Hyperlipidemia, hyperlipemia, and hepatic lipidosis in american miniature horses: 23 cases (1991-1994). J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 207: 604-607.
- Morin, C. L., R. H. Eckel, T. Marcel, and M. J. Pagliassotti. 1997. High fat diets elevate adipose tissue-derived tumor necrosis factor-alpha activity. Endocrinology 138: 4665-4671.
- Morjaria, S., C. Deleuze-Masquefa, V. Lafont, S. Gayraud, J. Bompart, P. A. Bonnet, and J. Dornand. 2006. Impairment of tnf-alpha production and action by imidazol[1,2-alpha] quinoxalines, a derivative family which displays potential anti-inflammatory properties. Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 19: 525-538.
- Morris, D. D. 1991. Endotoxemia in horses: A review of cellular and humoral mediators involved in its pathogenesis. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 5: 167-181.
- Mungall, B. A., M. Kyaw-Tanner, and C. C. Pollitt. 2001. In vitro evidence for a bacterial pathogenesis of equine laminitis. Vet. Microbiol. 79: 209-223.
- Murase, K., H. Odaka, M. Suzuki, N. Tayuki, and H. Ikeda. 1998. Pioglitazone timedependently reduces tumor necrosis factor-alpha level in muscle and improves metabolic abnormalities in wistar fatty rats. Diabetologia 41: 257-264.
- Muurling, M., R. P. Mensink, H. Pijl, J. A. Romijn, L. M. Havekes, and P. J. Voshol.
 2003. A fish oil diet does not reverse insulin resistance despite decrease
 adipose tissue tnf-alpha protein concentration in apoe-3*leiden mice. J. Nutr.
 130: 3350-3355.

- Nadeau, J. A., N. Frank, S. R. Valipe, and S. B. Elliot. 2006. Blood lipid, glucose, and insulin concentrations in morgan horses and thoroughbreds. J. Equine. Vet. Sci. 26: 401-405.
- Nakajima, K., Y. Tohyama, S. Kohsaka, and T. Kurihara. 2004. Protein kinase c alpha requirement in the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, which is linked to the induction of tumor necrosis factor alpha in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated microglia. Neurochem Int 44: 205-214.
- Naylor, J. M. 1982. Treatment and diagnosis of hyperlipemia and hyperlipidemia. PRoc. Am. Assoc. Equine Pract. 27: 323-328.
- Ogawa, H., S. Nielsen, and M. Kawakami. 1989. Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1 show different modes of combined effect on lipoprotein lipase activity and intracellular lipolysis in 3t3-11 cells. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)- Lipids and Lipid Metabolism 1003: 131-135.
- Osei, K., T. Gaillard, C. Cook, J. Kaplow, M. Bullock, and D. Schuster. 2005.
 Discrepancies in the regulation of plasma adiponectin and tnf-alpha levels and adipose tissue gene expression in obese african americans with glucose intolerance: A pilot study using rosiglitazone. Ethn. Dis. 15: 641-648.
- Pass, M. A., S. Pollitt, and C. C. Pollitt. 1998. Decreased glucose metabolism causes separation of hoof lamellae in vitro: A trigger for laminitis? Equine Vet. J. Suppl. 26: 133-138.
- Patton, J. S., H. M. Shepard, H. Wilking, G. Lewis, B. B. Aggarwal, T. E. Eessalu, L.
 A. Gavin, and C. Grunfeld. 1986. Interferons and tumor necrosis factors have similar catabolic effects on 3t3-11 cells. PNAS 83: 8313-8317.

- Pekala, P. H., M. Kawakami, C. W. Angus, M. D. Lane, and A. Cerami. 1983.
 Selective inhibition of synthesis of enzymes for de novo fatty acid biosynthesis by an endotoxin-induced mediator from exudate cells. PNAS 80: 2743-2747.
- Pekala, P. H., S. R. Price, C. A. Horn, B. E. Horn, J. Moss, and A. Cerami. 1984.
 Model for cachexia in chronic disease: Secretory products of endotoxinstimulated macrophages induce a catabolic state in 3t3-11 adipocytes. Trans Assoc Am Physicians 97.
- Peroni, J. F., W. E. Harrison, J. N. Moore, J. E. Graves, S. J. Lewis, T. M. Krunkosky, and T. P. Robertson. 2005a. Black walnut extract-induced laminitis in horses is associated with heterogeneous dysfunction of the laminar microvasculature. Equine Vet. J. 37: 546-551.
- Peroni, J. F., J. N. Moore, E. Graves, E. Noschka, M. E. Grafton, M. J. E. Aceves-Avila, S. J. Lewis, and T. P. Robertson. 2005b. Predispositions for venoconstriction in the equine laminar dermis: Implications for equine laminitis. J. Appl. Physiol.
- Pfeiffer, A., J. Janott, M. Mohlig, M. Ristow, H. Rochlitz, K. Busch, H. Schatz, and
 E. Schifferdecker. 1997. Circulating tumor necrosis factor alpha is elevated in male but not female patients with type ii diabetes mellitus. Horm. Metab. Res. 29: 111-114.
- Pickup, J. C. 2004. Inflammation and activated innate immunity in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 27: 813-823.

- Pickup, J. C., and M. A. Crook. 1998. Is type ii diabetes mellitus a disease of the innate immune system. Diabetologia 41: 1241-1248.
- Pickup, J. C., M. B. Mattock, G. D. Chusney, and D. Burt. 1997. Niddm as a disease of the innate immune system: Association of acute-phase reactants and interleukin-6 with metabolic syndrome x. Diabetologia 40: 1286-1292.
- Plata-Salaman, C. R. 1998. Cytokine-induced anorexia. Behavioral, cellular, and molecular mechanisms. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 856: 160-170.
- Plomgaard, P., K. Bouzakri, R. Krogh-Madsen, B. Mittendorfer, J. R. Zierath, and B.
 K. Pedersen. 2005. Tumor necrosis factor- alpha induces skeletal muscle insulin resistance in healthy human subjects via inhibition of akt substrate 160 phosphorylation. Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolism 54: 2939-2945.
- Pollitt, C. C. 1991. The role of arteriovenous anastomoses in the pathophysiology of equine laminitis. In: Proc. annu. conv. Am. Assoc. Equine Pract.
- Pollitt, C. C. 1999. Equine laminitis: A revised pathophysiology. In: Proc. annu. conv. Am. Assoc. Equine Pract.
- Pollitt, C. C., and C. T. Davies. 1998. Equine laminitis: Its development coincides with increased sublamellar blood flow. Equine Vet. J. Suppl. 28: 125-132.
- Powell, D. M., S. E. Reedy, D. R. Sessions, and B. P. Fitzgerald. 2002. Effect of short-term exercise training on insulin sensitivity in obese and lean mares. Equine Vet. J. 34: 81-84.
- Prins, J. B., C. U. Niesler, C. M. Winterford, N. A. Bright, K. Siddle, S. Orahilly, N.I. Walker, and D. P. Cameron. 1997. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces apoptosis of human adipose cells. Diabetes 46: 1939-1944.

- Reid, S. W. J., and H. O. Mohammed. 1996. Survival analysis approach to risk factors associated with hyperlipemia in donkeys. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 209: 1449-1452.
- Rodgerson, D. H., J. K. Belknap, J. N. Moore, and G. L. Fontaine. 2001. Investigation of mrna expression of tumor necrosis factor- alpha, interleukin- 1 beta, and cyclooxygenase-2 in cultured equine digital artery smooth muscle cells after exposure to endotoxin. Am. J. Vet. Res. 62: 1957-1963.
- Roger, T., M. P. Glauser, and T. Calandra. 2001. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (mif) modulates innate immune responses induced by endotoxin and gram-negative bacteria. J Endotoxin Res 7: 456-460.
- Rudman, R., and R. R. Keiper. 1991. The body condition of feral ponies on assateague island. Equine Vet. J. 23: 453-456.
- Russell, F. D., and A. P. Davenport. 1999. Secretory pathways in endothelin synthesis. Br. J. Pharmacol. 126: 391-398.
- Sadeghi, S., F. A. Wallace, and P. C. Calder. 1999. Dietary lipids modify the cytokine response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide in mice. Immunology 96: 404-410.
- Saigusa, T. 1990. Participation of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor in the responses of the sympathetic nervous system during lipopolysaccharide-induced fever. Pflugers Arch. 416: 225-229.
- Salmenniemi, U., E. Ruotsalainen, J. Pihlajamaki, I. Vauhkonen, S. Kainulainen, K. Punnonen, E. Vanninen, and M. Laakso. 2004. Multiple abnormalities in glucose and energy metabolism and coordinated changes in levels of

adiponectin, cytokines, and adhesion molecules in subjects with metabolic syndrome. Circulation 110: 3842-3848.

- Samuelsson, L., A. Gottsater, and F. Lindgarde. 2003. Decreasing levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 6 during lowering of body mass index with orlistat or placebo in obese subjects with cardiovascular risk factors. Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolism 5: 195-201.
- Sartipy, P., and D. J. Loskutoff. 2003. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in obesity and insulin resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100: 7265-7270.
- Schmidt, M. I., B. B. Duncan, A. R. Sharret, G. Lindberg, P. J. Savage, S. Offenbacher, M. I. Azambuja, R. P. Tracey, and G. Heiss. 1999. Markers of inflammation and prediction of diabetes mellitus in adults (atherosclerosis risk in communities study): A cohort study. Lancet 353: 1649-1652.
- Schotman, A. J. H., and G. Wagenaar. 1969. Hyperlipemia in ponies. Journal of Veterinary Medicine A 16: 1-7.
- Schreyver, S. A., S. C. Chua, and R. C. LeBoeuf. 1998. Obesity and diabetes in tnfalpha receptor- deficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 102: 402-411.
- Seethanathan, P., G. D. Bottoms, and K. Schafer. 1990. Characterization of release of tumor necrosis factor, interleukin-1, and superoxide anion from equine white blood cells in response to endotoxin. Am. J. Vet. Res. 51: 1221-1225.
- Seifi, H. A., H. Gray, M. Mohri, and A. Badiee. 2002. Hyperlipidemia in caspian miniature horses: Effects of undernutrition. J. Equine Vet. Sci. 22: 205-207.

- Sewter, C. P., J. E. Digby, F. Blows, J. Prins, and S. O'Rahilly. 1999. Regulation of tumor necrosis factor-alpha release from adipose tissue *in vitro*. J. Endocrinol. 163: 33-38.
- Shi, Q., J. F. Vandeberg, C. Jett, K. Rice, M. M. Leland, L. Talley, R. S. Kushwaha,
 D. L. Rainwater, J. L. Vandeberg, and X. L. Wang. 2005. Arterial endothelial dysfunction in baboons fed a high-cholesterol, high fat diet. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 82: 751-759.
- Skurk, T., C. Herder, I. Kraft, S. Muller-Scholze, H. Hauner, and H. Kolb. 2005. Production and release of macrophage migration inhibitory factor from human adipocytes. Endocrinology 146: 1006-1011.
- Snijder, M. B., J. M. Dekker, M. Visser, L. M. Bouter, C. D. A. Stehouwer, J. S. Yudkin, R. J. Heine, G. Nijpels, and J. C. Seidell. 2004. Trunk fat and leg fat have independent and opposite associations with fasting and postload glucose levels. Diabetes Care 27: 372-377.
- Starnes, H. F., R. S. Warren, M. Jeevanandam, J. L. Gabrilove, W. Larchian, H. F. Oettgen, and M. F. Brennan. 1988. Tumor necrosis factor and the acute metabolic response to tissue injury in man. J. Clin. Invest. 82: 1321-1325.
- Stephens, J. M., J. Lee, and P. F. Pilch. 1997. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced insulin resistance in 3t3-11 adipocytes is accompanied by a loss of insulin receptor substrate-1 and glut4 expression without a loss of receptor-mediated signal transduction. J. Biol. Chem. 272.
- Studien, K. E. 1923. Hypertonie-hyperglykarnie-hyperurikamiesyndrome. Zentralblatt fur innere Medizin 44.

154

- Suganami, T., J. Nishida, and Y. Ogawa. 2005. A paracrine loop between adipocytes and macrophages aggravates inflammatory changes. Role of free fatty acids and tumor necrosis factor alpha. Arteriosclerotic, Thrombotic, and Vascular Biology 25: 2062-2068.
- Takahashi, K., S. Mizuarari, H. Araki, S. Mashiko, A. Ishihara, A. Kanatani, H. Itadani, and H. Kotami. 2003. Adiposity elevates plasma mcp-1 levels leading to the increased cd11b-positive monocytes in mice. J Biol Chem 278.
- Thirunavukkarasu, C., S. W. Watkins, C. R. Gandhi. 2006. Mechanisms of endotoxin-induced no, il-6, and tnf-alpha production in activated rat hepatic stellate cells: Role of p38 mapk. Hepatology 44: 389-398.
- Toh, M. L., D. Aeberli, D. Lacey, Y. Yang, L. L. Santos, M. Clarkson, L. Sharma, C. Clyne, and E. F. Morand. 2006. Regulation of il-1 and tnf receptor expression and function by endogenous macrophage migration inhibitory factor. J Immunol 177: 4818-4825.
- Torti, F. M., B. Dieckmann, B. Beutler, A. Cerami, and G. M. Ringold. 1985. A macrophage factor inhibits adipocyte gene expression: An in vitro model of cachexia. Science 229: 867-869.
- Tracey, K. J., H. Wei, K. R. Manogue, Y. Fong, D. G. Hesse, H.T. Nguyen, G. C.
 Kuo, B. Beutler, R. S. Cotran, A. Cerami, and S. F. Lowry. 1988.
 Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor induces cachexia, anemia, and inflammation.
 Journal of Experimental Medicine 167: 2111-1227.
- Trayhurn, P., and I. S. Wood. 2004. Adipokines: Inflammation and the pleitropic role of white adipose tissue. Br. J. Nutr. 92: 347-355.

- Treiber, K. H., R. C. Boston, D. S. Kronfeld, W. B. Staniar, and P. A. Harris. 2005. Insulin resistance and compensation in thoroughbred weanlings adapted to high-glycemic meals. J. Anim. Sci. 83: 2357-2364.
- Uysal, K. T., S. M. Wiesbrock, M. W. Marino, and G. S. Hotamisligil. 1997.Protection from obesity-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking tnf-alpha function. Nature 389: 610-614.
- Vague, J. 1947. Lad diferencation sexuelle, facteur determinant des formes de l'obesite. Presse Med. 30: 339-340.
- Ventre, J., T. Doebber, M. Wu, K. MacNaul, K. Stevens, M. Pasparakis, G. Kollias, and D. E. Moller. 1997. Targeted disruption of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene: Metabolic consequences in obese and nonobese mice. Diabetes 46: 1526-1531.
- Verhoeckx, K. C., S. Bijlsma, E. M. de Groene, R. F. Witkamp, J. van der Greef, and R. J. Rodenburg. 2004. A combination of proteomics, principal component analysis and transcriptomics is a powerful tool for the identification of biomarkers for macrophage maturaton in the u937 cell line. Proteomics 4: 1014-1028.
- Vettor, R., G. Milan, M. Rossato, and G. Rederspil. 2005. Review article: Adipocytokines and insulin resistance. Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 22: 3-10.
- Vick, M. M., A. A. Adams, B. A. Murphy, D. R. Sessions, D. W. Horohov, R. F. Cook, B. J. Shelton, and B. P. Fitzgerald. 2007. Relationship between

inflammatory cytokines, obesity, and insulin sensitivity in the horse. J. Anim. Sci. *In Print*.

- Vick, M. M., D. R. Sessions, B. A. Murphy, E. L. Kennedy, S.E. Reedy, and B. P. Fitzgerald. 2006. Obesity is associated with altered metabolic and reproductive activity in the mare: Effects of metformin on insulin sensitivity and reproductive cyclicity. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 18: 609-617.
- Waage, A. 1987. Production and clearance of tumor necrosis factor in rats exposed to endotoxin and dexamethasone. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 45: 348-355.
- Wang, B., J. R. Jenkins, and P. Trayhurn. 2004. Expression and secretion of inflammation-related adipokines by human adipocytes differentiated in culture: Integrated response to tnf-alpha. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 288: E731-E740.
- Wang, B., J. R. Jenkins, and P. Trayhurn. 2005. Expression and secretion of inflammation-related adipokines by human adipocytes differentiated in culture: Integrated response to tnf-alpha. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 288: E731-E740.
- Watson, D. G. T., L. Burns, S. Love, C. J. Packard, and J. Sheperd. 1992a. Plasma lipid, lipoproteins and post-heparin lipases in ponies with hyperlipemia.Equine Vet. J. 24: 341-346.
- Watson, T. D. G., and S. Love. 1992b. Equine hyperlipemia in horses and ponies Vet. Rec. 131.
- Watson, T. D. G., and S. Love. 1994. Equine hyperlipidaemia. Compend. Contin. Educ. Pract. Vet. 16: 89-97.

- Watson, T. D. G., C. J. Packard, J. Shepherd, and J. N. Fowler. 1990. An investigation of the relationships between body condition and plasma lipid and lipoprotein concentrations in 24 donkeys. Vet. Rec. 127: 498-500.
- Weisberg, S. P., D. McCann, M. Desai, M. Rosenbaum, R. L. Leibel, and A. W. Ferrante Jr. 2003. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 112: 1796-1808.
- Weiss, R., J. Dziura, T. S. Burgert, W. V. Tamborlane, S. E. Taksali, C. W. Yeckel,
 K. Allen, M. Lopes, M. Savoye, J. Morrison, R. S. Sherwin, and S. Caprio.
 2004. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. N.
 Engl. J. Med. 350: 2362-2374.
- Wellen, K. E., and G. S. Hotamisligil. 2003. Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. J. Clin. Invest. 112: 1785-1788.
- Westervelt, R. G., J. R. Stouffer, H. F. Hintz, and H. F. Schryver. 1976. Estimating fatness in horses and ponies. J. Anim. Sci. 43: 781-785.
- Xu, H., G. T. Barnes, Q. Yang, G. Tan, D. Yang, C. J. Chou, J. Sole, A. Nichols, J. S. Ross, L. A. Tartaglia, and H. Chen. 2003. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. 112: 1821-1830.
- Xu, H., T. Uysal, J. D. Becherer, P. Arner, and G. S. Hotamisligil. 2002. Altered tumor necrosis factor-alpha (tnf-alpha) processing in adipocytes and increased expression of transmembrane tnf-alpha in obesity. Diabetes 51: 1876-1883.
- Xydakis, A. M., C. C. Case, P. H. Jones, R. C. Hoogeveen, M.-Y. Liu, E. Smith,K.W. Nelson, and C. M. Ballantyne. 2004. Adiponectin, inflammation, and

the expression of the metabolic syndrome in obese individuals: The impact of rapid weight loss through caloric restriction. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89: 2697-2703.

- Yabunaka, N., J. Nishihira, Y. Mizue, M. Tsuji, M. Kumagai, Y. Oshtsuka, M.
 Imamura, and M. Asaka. 2000. Elevated serum content of macrophage
 migration inhibitory factor in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 23: 256-258.
- You, T., R. Yang, M. F. Lyles, D. Gong, and B. J. Nicklas. 2005. Abdominal adipose tissue cytokine gene expression: Relationship to obesity and metabolic risk factors. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 288: 741-747.
- Yudkin, J. S., C. S. Yajnik, V. Mohamed-Ali, and K. Bulmer. 1999. High levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and leptin in urban, but not rural, indians. Diabetes Care 22: 363-364.
- Zechner, R., T. C. Newman, B. Sherry, A. Cerami, and J. L. Breslow. 1988. Recombinant human cachectin/tumor necrosis factor but not interleukin-1 alpha downregulates lipoprotein lipase gene expression at the transcriptional level in mouse 3t3-11 adipocytes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8: 2394-2401.
- Ziccardi, P., F. Nappo, G. Giugliano, K. Esposito, R. Marfella, M. Cioffi, F. D' Andrea, A. M. Molinari, and D. Giugliano. 2002. Reduction of inflammatory cytokine concentrations and improvement of endothelial functions in obese women after weight loss over one year. Circulation 105.